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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

The consolidated turnover of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2018 amounted to HKS$34,910,000
(2017: HKS$24,026,000) of which HK$8,367,000
(2017: HKS10,060,000) was attributable to
the business of publishing and intellectual
properties licensing of the Group, HKS$3,147,000
(2017: HKS10,416,000) was attributable to
online and social business, HK$20,378,000 (2017:
HKS$1,076,000) was attributable to retailing and
wholesales business and HK$3,018,000 (2017:
HK$2,474,000) was attributable to the business
of catering. Loss for the year attributable
to equity holders, taking into account
taxation, was HK$58,042,000 (loss for 2017:
HKS$48,753,000). The loss per share wash HK4.2
cents (loss per share for 2017: HK3.7 cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors has resolved not to
declare any final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Group has been focusing
on streamlining operations and business
segments, controlling costs and embarking on
investment in its core intellectual properties
("IPs™) related business.

The significant loss of the current year was
mainly due to the amortisation and impairment
loss of film right and film production costs,
which totaled HK$32,788,000, or 56.7% of the
loss for the year, which is non-recurring in
nature in terms of impact on the financial
statements. The Group will be cautious
on investing in any new film or TV series
productions as outcome of such investments
are generally very uncertain.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

FRBES

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

In March this year, the Group entered info an
agreement to take a controlling stake of 55%
in tRBHFMABKERAT(CEQmMen”), EQmen is
principally engaged in the digitalisation and
commercialisation of IPs, content creation and
digital marketing. The investment amount is
RMB40,000,000 (or about HK$50,000,000) for new
shares of the company. The company has a
proven track record, profitable and its business
has a high barrier to entry because of its high
technical standard.

Publishing and IP Licensing Business

The decrease in revenue from HK$10,060,000
to HKS$8,367,000 was mainly due to lower
IP licensing income in 2018 comparing to
2017, while revenue from publishing of comic
books increased from HK$3,855,000 in 2017 to
HK$4,556,000 in 2018.

With the investment in EQmen, the Group is
considering the digitalisation of its IPs, mainly
comic characters. This will allow the Group to
broaden the scope of licensing business and
customer base to encompass the use of digital
images. Also, EQmen has access to our IPs to
expand their business of digital marketing and
content creation.

Online and Social Business

The Group is scaling down its online and social
business to reduce losses. The Group attempted
in the past in using its comic characters to
produce mobile games. The Group was very
much a passive participant as the Group
lacked the technical capability of transforming
its comic characters into digital images. Out-
sourcing of digitalisation had proved to be
unreliable and costly. With the acquisition
of EQmen, the Group intends to utilise their
digitalisation to launch our online and mobile
games.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Retail and Wholesales Business

The Group is keen on maintaining and
expanding the sales and distribution of premium
wine. The Group has built a good relationship
with a network of vineyards in France. Our wine
inventory is entering info its best drinking years.
We expect the volume to pick up as the market
condition improves.

Catering Business

The Group is scaling down its catering services
business. This will allow the Group to focus on ifs
core business and to reduce losses.

PROSPECT

The Group strives to control cost, scale down
loss-making business, diversify IP’s income
source with an aim to achieve a turnaround to
profitability in the coming financial year. With
the focus on utilising our IPs in either direct
licensing or using it in marketing of products or
events, the Group aims to achieve stable and
significant growth in revenue and profits. With
digitalisation of our IPs, the Group will be able
to expand its scope of business in licensing
and online and mobile games. The Group will
continue to invest in IPs related business. The
Group will take a controlling stake in its future
investments in IPs related business, which must
have a proven frack record, profitability and
sustainable operations.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FREEE

APPRECIATIONS

| would like to express my sincere thanks to the
Board of Directors, our management and staff
for their continued dedication in the past year,
and to all our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their enthusiastic
support of the Group.

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director
Hong Kong, 22 June 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s consolidated net loss attributable
to the owners of the Company in 2018
increased by 19.1% to HK$58,042,000 or 13.5%
to HK4.2 cents per share (31 March 2017: loss of
HK$48,753,000 or HK3.7 cents per share).

The analysis of consolidated statement of profit
and loss and other comprehensive income for
year ended 31 March 2018 is as follows:

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group’s
overall turnover increased by approximately
45.3% to HK$34,910,000 of which approximately
HK$8,367,000, HKS3,147,000, HK$20,378,000 and
HK$3,018,000 (31 March 2017: HK$10,060,000,
HKS$10,416,000, HK$1,076,000 and HK$2,474,000)
were attributable to our business of publishing
and intellectual properties licensing, online
and social business, retailing and wholesales
business and catering respectively.

The Group has recorded a decrease in turnover
for the business of publishing and intellectual
properties licensing, representing a decline of
approximately 16.8%. This decline was mainly
market driven and expected to be temporary.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the furnover
of the online and social business segment has
decreased by 69.8% to HK$3,147,000 compared
to the year of 2017. The significant drop was
mainly due fto the recognition of one-off sales
of bitcoins of HK$8,127,000 during the year
ended 31 March 2017. The Group holds nil
balance of bitcoins as of 31 March 2017 and 31
March 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EH & 5T R 5

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

The turnover of retailing and wholesales
segment represents the sales of premium
wine of HK$20,378,000 during the year ended
31 March 2018 and sale of other products of
HKS$1,076,000 during year ended 31 March 2017.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the catering
services in Macau reported an increase in
revenue of 22.0% to HK$3,018,000 as compared
to the year of 2017 due to improvement of
market conditions in general.

Gross profit and gross profit margins

The Group recorded a gross loss of
approximately HK$18,637,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2018. The gross loss was due
to the poor box office performance of “On
the Pitch” and the one-off amortisation of film
right of “On the Pitch” of HK$29,405,000 on the
completion of the film’s theatrical release in
the PRC during the year. This amortisation of
film right is non-recurring in nature. Otherwise,
if excluding the results related to this film right,
the adjusted gross profit margin is 30.1% (31
March 2017: 63.1%). The drop in gross profit
margin is due to sales of premium wines in
general which has a lower margin than other
business activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)
Loss before tax

The Group recorded a loss before tax of
approximately HK$57,778,000 during the
year ended 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017
HK$49,835,000). The loss included the one-
off amortisation of film right of HK$29,405,000
as stated above, and the further provision
on impairment loss on film right and film
production in progress of HKS$3,383,000. These
losses are non-recurring in nature. The Group
will be cautious on investing in any new film or
TV series production as the outcome of such
investments are very uncertain. The Group has
been successful in controlling costs and cutting
off non-profitable operations. The Group is
confident that with continuous confrol and
reduction of costs, and investment in our core
IPs related business, the Group will return to
profitability.

Also, as at 31 March 2018, the Group has net
asset of approximately HK$S310,682,000. Net
asset value per share (weighted average) of
HKS$0.22 (31 March 2017: HKS$0.28).

SHARE WARRANTS
2017 Warrants

On 20 July 2012, the Company entered into a
warrant subscription agreement for the private
placement to more than six investors, a total
of 76,790,000 warrants (the “2017 Warrants”)
at HKS0.10 per warrant. The net proceeds from
the warrant subscription of approximately
HKS$7,492,000 were used as the general working
capital of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EH & 5T R 5

SHARE WARRANTS (Continued)
2017 Warrants (Continued)

Each of the non-listed warrant entitles the
holder the right to subscribe for one new share
at the warrant subscription price of HK$1.20
(subject to adjustment) at any time during a
period of five (6) years commencing from the
date of issue of warranfts.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, no
registered holders of the 2017 Warrants
exercised their rights to subscribe for new
shares in the Company. As of 31 March 2018,
the remaining 44,710,000 units of 2017 Warrants
expired and the Company had no outstanding
2017 Warrants.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Group implemented measures to streamline its
operations.

On 20 April 2017, the Group entered into an
agreement to dispose of the 5% equity interest
of its wholly owned subsidiary, SNIIC Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries, o an independent
third party, a strategic partner, for a cash
consideration of HKS$2,800,000. The Group
maintains a 95% equity interest in this subsidiary
after the sale of a 5% equity interest.

On 5 May 2017, the Group entered into an
agreement to dispose of the 20% equity
interest of its subsidiary, EME — &8 &8 & 1E
ER2AT to an independent third party, for a
cash consideration of HK$1,200,000. The Group
maintains a 55% equity interest in this subsidiary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

On 18 September 2017, the Group entered
info an agreement to dispose the enftire
shareholding of its wholly owned subsidiary,
Success Dynasty Limited and its subsidiary
tfo an independent third party, for a cash
consideration of US$$250,000 (equivalent to
approximately HKS$1,950,000).

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 28 March 2018, Culturecom (Hong Kong)
Limited, a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of
the Group has entfered into a capital increase
agreement (the “Agreement”) with {t =5 &M
BEABERATCEQmMen”) and its existing equity
holders to increase the registered capital
and capital reserves of EQmen. EQmen is
principally engaged in the digitalisation and
commercialisation of IPs, content creation
and digital marketing. Upon completion, the
equity interest in EQmen will be owned 55% by
Culturecom (Hong Kong) Limited and 45% by
the existing equity holders. This transaction is
not completed as of 22 June 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EH & 5T R 5

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2018, the Group had bank
balances and deposits with financial institutions
in aggregate of approximately HK$238,393,000
and held for trading investments of
approximately HK$7,080,000. The Group has no
significant exposure to foreign exchange rate
fluctuation.

As of 31 March 2018, the Group had net current
assets of approximately HK$305,872,000 (2017:
HK$325,210,000). The Group’s total liabilities as
of 31 March 2018 amounted fo approximately
HK$10,706,000 (2017: HK$12,109,000) and
represented approximately 3.4% (2017: 3.3%) to
equity affributable to owners of the Company.

The Group has sufficient cash reserves to
continue to invest in IPs and related business.
The objective is to take a conftrolling stake
in companies with proven frack records,
profitability and sustainable operations.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of 31 March 2018, the Group had a total of
57 employees of which 28 are based in Hong
Kong. 12 in Macau and 17 in the PRC. Total staff
costs incurred during the year ended 31 March
2018 amounted to approximately HK$13,826,000
(2017: HKS$24,326,000). Remuneration packages
are maintained at competitive levels and
reviewed by the management on a periodical
basis. Discretionary bonuses and incentive
share options are awarded to certain directors
and employees according to the assessment of
individual merit and performance.
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The Directors present their annual report and
the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The activities of its principal
associate and subsidiaries are set out in
notes 15 and 34 fto the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’s associate and of the
Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2018 are
set out in notes 15 and 34 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2018 and the state of the Company’s
and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 68 to
194,

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 79.8% of the Group’s
tfurnover from continuing operations, of which
29.0% was attributable to the largest customer.

The aggregate purchases during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 8.9% of the Group’s total
purchases from continuing operations, of which
3.5% was attributable to the largest supplier.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(Continued)

At no time during the year did a Director, an
associate of a Director or a shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2018 including a fair review
of the business and discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, are set out in the "Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Financial Summary” sections of
this Annual Report. Save as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement, no important event
affecting the Group that has occurred since
the end of the financial year ended 31 March
2018.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year of 2018, nor has any dividend been
prepared since the end of the reporting period
(2017: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately
HK$1,317,000 on the acquisitions of property,
plant and equipment.

Details of these and other movements during
the year in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL, WARRANTS AND
SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements during the year in the
share capital, the warrants and the share
option schemes of the Company are set out
in notes 25, 26 and 27 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 March 2018, the Company has
no reserves available for disfribution to
shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out on pages 195 and 196.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (Vice Chairman)
Dr. Lai Tak Kwong Andrew
(resigned on 8 April 2017)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director)
Mr. Yuen Kin (appointed on 14 September 2017)
Mr. Tang U Fai (refired on 22 August 2017)
Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth
Mr. Chen Man Lung (resigned on 16 April 2018)
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DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew

Mr. Joseph Lee Chennault
(retired on 22 August 2017)

Mr. Lai Qiang

Ms. Ng Ying

The Directors of the Company, including
Executive, and Independent Non-Executive
Directors ("INEDs”) are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. In accordance
with Clauses 101, T10(A) and 190(v) of the
Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs. Yuen Kin, Tang
Kwing Chuen Kenneth, Lai Qiang and Mr.
Fan Chun Wah Andrew will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves, for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service confract which is not terminable
by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the INEDs as required under Rule 3.13 of Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company considered all INEDs to
be independent.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia, aged 57, joined the
Company in April 2008 and was appointed as
an Executive Director on 17 May 2011, and as
Vice Chairman of the Company on 26 March
2012. Currently, Ms. Chow is a member of
the Corporate Governance Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Ms. Chow is the
Director of L&W Holding Limited which is one of
the substantial shareholders of the Company.
Ms. Chow presently is responsible for corporate
management of the Group. Ms. Chow holds a
Master of Business Administration from Stillman
School of Business at Seton Hall University
and has more than 24 years of extensive
experience in executive development and
corporate management. Aside from business
management, Ms. Chow is also actively
involved in charity work. Presently, she is the
President of the Cai Ting Kai Charity Association
and the Vice Chairman of Trustee Committee
of the Chu Bong Foo Culture Foundation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, aged 49, joined the
Group in 1998 and was appointed as an
Executive Director and Managing Director
of the Company in March 2008, Mr. Kwan is
a Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company and is a Director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Kwan
held the position as vice president of the Group
from 1998 to 2002 and was appointed as an
acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company
in April 2007. During the period of serving as the
Vice President of the Group, Mr. Kwan was also
the vice publisher of Tin Tin Daily News where
he gained wealth of experience in media
industry. Mr. Kwan has exftensive experience
in businesses restructuring and corporate
investment. He holds a Bachelor Degree of
Arts in Economics from Zhongshan University,
Guangzhou, PRC. Mr. Kwan had been a
Executive Director of Cloud Investment Holdings
Limited, formerly known as China Bio Cassava
Holdings Limited, from February 2001 to May
2017 (stock code: 8129), the shares of which
are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yuen Kin, aged 63, holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from the
University of Toronto, Canada. He is a
Chartered Professional Accountant in Canada
and he is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has extensive experience in
corporate finance, financial planning, reporting
and management.

He is an Independent Non-Executive Director
of Lafe Corporation Limited (SGX:AYB), a
company listed on the Singapore Exchange.
He is also an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Emerson Radio Corporation
(NYSEMKT: MSN), a company listed on The
American Stock Exchange. He is currently an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Huayi
Tencent Entertainment Limited (stock code:
0419), a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Yuen had been a Non-Executive Director of
Kong Sun Holdings Limited from January 2017 to
November 2017 (stock code: 0295), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen Man Lung, aged 52, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in October
2009 (resigned in April 2018) and appointed
as Chief Operation Officer of the Company in
October 2012 (resigned in June 2017). He has
been an Executive Director of Cloud Investment
Holdings Limited, formerly known as China Bio
Cassava Holdings Limited, from May 2007 to
June 2012 (stock code: 8129) and he has been
an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Zhuoxin International Holdings Limited, formerly
known as Mobile Telecom Network Holdings
Limited, from March 2002 to November 2004
(stock code: 8266), all the shares of which
are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
He has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of China Internet Investment Finance
Holdings Limited, formerly known as Opes Asia
Development Limited, from May 2007 to June
2012 (stock code: 0810), a company listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, and he has also been
the Chief Financial Officer of ViaGold Capital
Limited from 2007 to 2010 (VIA.AX), a company
whose shares are listed on the Australian Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Chen is also the director and founder of
two private equities focusing on antique and
art investment, as well as media investment.
For public services, he currently serves as the
director of The Hong Kong Baptist University
Alumni Association Limited, the director of the
Hong Kong Comics & Animation Federation
Limited (HKCAF), Advisor to the Federation
of Hong Kong Brands, Advisor to Hang Seng
Management College and Hong Kong Baptist
University as well as founding member of
the International Federation of Creative and
Technology. He served as Academic Advisor
of Academy of Visual Arts and the Humanities
program of Hong Kong Baptist University, and
Committee Member of the Hong Kong Inbound
Travel Agent Association Limited (HKITA). He
was granted the Bachelor Degree of Arfs in
Sociology and the Master Degree of Arts in
Chinese Studies from The Hong Kong Baptist
University and The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology respectively. Mr. Chen
has over 25 years of extensive experience in
the investment industry.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth, aged 40,
was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on December 2008, Mr. Tang
is a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Tang holds
a Master of Commerce Degree majoring in
Finance and a Bachelor of Science Degree
majoring in Information Systems from the
University of New South Wales. He joined the
Group as Project Manager in October 2003.
He has extensive years of experience in the
banking and finance industry.

Dr. Lai Tak Kwong Andrew, aged 64, was
appointed as an Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer in April 2014. Dr. Lai
has resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 1
December 2016 and resigned as Executive
Director on 8 April 2017. Dr. Lai was the
Corporate Vice President of United States
Hewlett-Packard (the “HP”) and General
Manager of HP Global Delivery China Center
(the "GDCC"). In 2003, he was appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer of Bytewatch
Inc., a high-profile, fast-paced Silicon Valley
Company. In 2006, Dr. Lai was named as
Shanghai HP Board of Director, President of
HP Software Engineering Academy and Vice
President and General Manager of HP GDCC
with clients mainly from Europe, America and
Fortune 500 listed companies in Asia. He holds
a Master of Business Administration and Master
of Computer Science from the University of
Southern California, Los Angeles, as well as a
Bachelor Degree and Doctorate of Philosophy
in Computer Science in the United States of
America.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew JP, aged 39, was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in April 2015. Mr. Fan is a
member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Fan is a practicing certified
public accountant in Hong Kong with over 11 years
of experience. He holds a Bachelor Degree of
Business Administration (Accounting and Finance)
from The University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor
Degree in Laws from the University of London. Mr.
Fan is a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Instfitute
of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a
committee member of the tenth to twelfth Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of the
Zhejiang Province, the fourth and fifth Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of
Shenzhen and the Tenth Vice Chairman of Zhejiang
Province United Young Association.

Mr. Fan is currently an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Fulum Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1443), Sinomax Group
Limited (stock code: 1418), Chuang’s China
Investments Limited (stock code: 0298), Space
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2448),
Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code:
1982), all of which are companies listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Fan is also currently
an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Omnibridge Holdings Limited (stock code:
8462), Sanbase Corporation Limited (stock
code: 8501), CNC Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8356) listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Fan had been an Independent
Non-Executive Director of LT Commercial Real
Estate Limited from March 2013 to December
2016 (stock code: 0112), Far East Holdings
International Limited from October 2009
to February 2012 (stock code: 0036), Milan
Station Holdings Limited from March 2013 to
July 2015 (stock code: 1150) and Hong Kong
Resources Holdings Limited from July 2015 fo
May 2017 (stock code: 2882), the shares of
both companies are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
and On Real International Holdings Limited
from September 2015 to August 2016 (stock
code: 8245), the shares of which are listed
on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Lai Qiang, aged 44, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in December 2008. Mr. Lai
is a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He is an
intermediate level economist. He held a
Bachelor Degree in International Finance
(Professional Economics), International
Trading Finance Department, from Zhongshan
University, Guangzhou, PRC. Mr. Lai is currently
the Vice President of Shenzhen Spring Woods
Holdings Limited CRIIFBNRFRIZERBERAT). Mr. Lai
has over 20 years of practical experience
in group enterprise fund management and
financial management.

Ms. Ng Ying, aged 49, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in December 2012, She has over 21
years of experience in accounting and finance
management for private and listed companies
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Ms. Ng
holds a Higher Diploma of Arts in Economics
from Zhongshan University, Guangzhou, PRC.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Senior Management

Mr. Yue Chi Wing Toby, aged 51, joined the
Group in January 2014. He is the Comic
department’s General Manager of Culturecom
Limited, a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Yue has
over 23 years of extensive experience in the
comics industry in Hong Kong. He is the founder
of THE ONE Comics Publishing Limited which
was acquired by the Group in 2014. Mr. Yue has
published numerous popular comic books and
acted as producer among others, for Dragon
and Tiger Heroes, Impeccable Twins, The Four,
Feel 100% and City of Darkness.

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, aged 50, joined the Group
in September 1997. Ms. Lee holds a Master
Degree of Professional Accounting. She is a
fellow member of both the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She has extensive experience in auditing,
accounting and corporate finance.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has fterminated its share option
scheme adopted on 21 August 2002 (the “2002
Scheme”) and adopted a new share option
scheme (the "2013 Scheme™) on its 2013 Annual
General meeting held on 12 August 2013.

Subsequent to the termination of the 2002
Scheme, no further share options can be
granted thereunder but in all other respects,
the provisions of the 2002 Scheme shall remain
in force and all share options granted prior to
such fermination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance therewith,

No shares are available for issue under the 2002
Scheme and 2013 Scheme as of the date of
this Annual Report.

Details of movement of the share options
granted to the Directors and employees of the
Company under the 2002 Scheme and the 2013
Scheme during the year are as follows:
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES BRETE(E)
(Continued)
Number of share options
e Ll
Transfer ~ Transfer Granted/
from other to other Exercised/
At category cafegory  Lapsed Cancelled At Exercise
Date of 1 April  during the  during the  during the  during the 31 March  price per
Grant 217 year year year year 218 share Exercise period
i
i Eh ZB-N\F
“E-tF FpER  FRER BEM/ =R
BER®  MA-R  HMER  RRER FAEAM AE/HE  Zt-B  SRAEE ks
HKS
AT
(a)  Directors
g2
Ms. Chow Lai Weh Livia () 29 June 2007 4,388,000 - — (4,388,000 - - 216 29 June 2007 fo
BEERt TERLE (Note 2) 28 June 2017
RAZTHA (W&E2) TERLE
AAZTAEE
E-tF
~AAZTI\A
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung 0] 29 June 2007 109,700 - - (109,700) - - 216 29 June 2007 fo
BiEmts TERLE 28 June 2017
RAZTHA TERLE
RAZTHAZ
E-tF
RAAZTIA
(i) 6 November 2007 877,600 - - (877.600) - - 142 6 November 2007 o
TERLE 5 November 2017
t-A%A TERLE
t-frAZ
E-tF
+-AEA
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES B RESTEI(E)
(Continued) '

Number of share options

RREHR
Transfer — Transfer Granted/
from other o other Exercised/
At category category  Lapsed Cancelled At Exercise
Date of 1 April  during the  during the ~ during the  during the 31 March  price per
Grant 217 year year year year 218 share Exercise period
i
i o Z®-0\F
E-tF ERBR FaB4 BRlE/ Zh
RER®  MA-R  HAER  RMER FAEAM AE/HE =t SRAEE i
HKS
AT
(@) Directors (Confinued)
E3(8)
Mr. Chen Man Lung 0] 29 June 2007 1,206,700 - - (1,206,700) - - 216 29 June 2007 fo
RugELE TEILE 28 June 2017
ABZTAA TERLE
RAZTHEE
Bt
AAZTIEB
(i) 6 November2007 1,645,500 - - (1,645,500) - - 142 6 November 2007 o
ERLE 5 November 2017
t-A%A REtE
T-ARAE
-t
+-AEH
(b)  Employees 0] 29 June 2007 10,476,350 - — (10,476,350) - - 216 29 June 2007 fo
fEg TETtE 28 June 2017
ABZTAA ZERLE
~AAZTHEE
TE-tF
~AZTIA
(i) 6 November2007 3,850,470 - - (3,850.470) - - 142 6 November 2007 o
TEItE 5 November 2017
t-BRH TERLE
T-fAREE
ZE-tF

+-AEH
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES BRESTE(E)
(Continued) ;
Number of share options
RREHR
Transfer — Transfer Granted/
from other o other Exercised/
At category  cafegory  Lapsed Cancelled At Exercise
Date of 1 April  during the  during the ~ during the  during the 31 March price per
Grant 217 year year year year 218 share Exercise period
i
i v ZB-N\F
ZE-tF FpER  FRER BRL/ R
BER®  MA-R  HMER  HRER FAEAN AE/HE =t SRAEE i
HKS
BT
(c)  Others 0] 29 June 2007 27,699,250 - — (27,699,250) - 216 29 June 2007 to
St -3 28 June 2017
RAZThA ZERtE
~AZTHRE
E-tF
~AZTI\A
(i) 6 November 2007 32,339,560 - — (32,339.560) - 142 6 November 2007 fo
ZEELE 5 November 2017
T-A%A RE{E
+-ARBE
E-tF
+-AEA
Notes: Btz
1. The options exercise period is commenced from 1. BRETEHESE MBS +F - BRETVTRBRE

the date of grant for fen years. The options may
be exercised at any fime within the options period
provided that the options have been vested. As of 31
March 2018, all options have been vested.

2. Mr. Dizon Basilio ("Mr. Dizon”) has been granted
4,388,000 share options under the 2002 Scheme of
the Company. Pursuant tfo the SFO, Ms. Chow Lai
Wah Livia, the spouse of Mr. Dizon, is deemed to be
interested in the share options granted to Mr. Dizon. As
of 31 March 2018, all options have been lapsed.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option holdings disclosed
above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors of
the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(A) Interests of the Directors

As of 31 March 2018, the interests and
short positions of each Director of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which are
required (a) to be nofified fo the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions
which he/she is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant tfo section 352 of the SFO, fo be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors

e R E (4

=
Z)

=

(A) EEzREm(E)

(Continued)
Interests in the shares of the Company REANGREGZ
Approximate
percentage
Number of of issued share
Name of Director Capacity Nature of interest shares held capital
HERTRA
Espg L) BEME FERO#HE ZBRAEDL
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia Beneficial owner Personal interest 32,962,800 23.25%
BAEELL EREEA EPN: 5
Interests of a confrolled Corporate interest 271,502,312
corporation ARRER (Note 1)
ZERAR RS (H=ET)
Interests of spouse Personal interest 18,895,000
FifBEs EPN: 3 (Note 2)
GEN)
Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Beneficial owner Personal interest 135,000 0.01%
Kenneth EXBAA BARR
Mr. Chen Man Lung Beneficial owner Personal interest 200 N/A
BRXELE BERBRA BAESR (Note 3)
GER) TBA

Notes:

E=

1.

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (“Ms. Chow”) has
confrolling interests in L&W Holding Limited
(“L&W"), L&W is beneficially interested in
271,602,312 shares in the Company. Accordingly,
Ms. Chow is deemed to be infterested in
271,602,312 shares in the Company under the
SFO.

Mr. Dizon Basilio (“Mr. Dizon”), the spouse of
Ms. Chow, is beneficially interested in 18,895,000
shares. Therefore, Ms. Chow is deemed fo be
inferested in 18,895,000 shares in the Company
under the SFO.

Mr. Chen Man Lung resigned as Executive
Director on 16 April 2018.

All intferests stated above represent long
positions.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS ERRE(E
(Continued) '
(A) Interests of the Directors (A) ES 2= (E)
(Continued)
Interests in share options of the Company RAELNGEREZ
Approximate
Number  Exercise percentage
Nature of of share price of issued
Name of Director Capacity interest options per share Exercisable period share capital
EERTRA
EEps gt BEftE BREZR SROIRKE s ZBREA
HK$
B
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia Interest of  Family 4,388,000 2.16 29 June 2007 to 0.32%
BEELt spouse inferest  (Note 1 & 2) 28 June 2017
FEEs Rk (M 182) “EEtERAZThAEE
ZE—+ExAZHN\E
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (i) Beneficial  Personal 109,700 2.16 29 June 2007 to 0.07%
BRELE owner interest (Note 3) 28 June 2017
EREEA  AAREER (H&E3) “EELERAZTNRE
“E2-tEXAZTNR
(i) Beneficial Personal 877,600 1.42 6 November 2007 to
owner infterest (Note 3) 5 November 2017
ERERA  fIARE (MzE3) ZEEZtET-ARHE
“E-tE+-FEH
Mr. Chen Man Lung () Beneficial  Personal 1,206,700 2.16 29 June 2007 to 0.21%
RXERE owner interest (Note 3) 28 June 2017
BERBRA  fIAE&: (WaE3) “EELERAZTNRE
“E-+E5xAZ+/\H
(i) Beneficial  Personal 1,645,500 1.42 6 November 2007 to
owner interest (Note 3) 5 November 2017
BEREAA AR (&L 3) “EELEt-ARAE

“E-tE¥+-ATA



34

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRES

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)

(A) Interests of the Directors
(Continued)

Interests in share options of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

1.

Mr. Dizon Basilio (*Mr. Dizon”) has been granted
4,388,000 share options under the 2002 Scheme
of the Company, Pursuant to the SFO, Ms. Chow,
the spouse of Mr. Dizon deemed to be interested
in the share options granted to Mr. Dizon. As
of 31 March 2018, the share options has been
vested.

As of 31 March 2018, the share options have
been lapsed.

The options exercise period is commenced from
the date of grant for ten years. The options may
be exercised at any time within the options
period provided that the options have been
vested. As of 31 March 2018, all optfions have
been lapsed.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors

(B)

(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as of 31
March 2018, none of the Directors of the
Company had interests or short positions
in any securities of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are
required (a) to be nofified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant tfo
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions
which he/she is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be noftified fo the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As of 31 March 2018, so far as is known to
any Director of the Company, the following
person had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall fo be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO:
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS EaEE(E)
(Continued) ’
(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders B) FERRER(EF)
(Continued)
Interests in the shares and underlying RAELX ARG RIEEKR G2 Eam

shares of the Company

Approximate

Number Number of percentage of
of shares underlying issued share
Name Capacity held shares held capital
FR¥FHEE HEBITRA
=x! g0 RGO # B ROEA ZHMABE D
L&W Holding Beneficial owner 271,502,312 — 19.52%
Limited ERERAA
Mr. Dizon Basilio Beneficial owner, 323,360,112 4,388,000 23.25%
B LEE interests in (Note 1)
a controlled (FFzET)
corporation and
interests of spouse
(Note 1)
ERBEBA - ZEQTH
ZERREBER
(PFFEET)
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Beneficial owner, 323,360,112 4,388,000 23.25%
Livia inferests in (Note 1)
BAEELZL a controlled (BFEET)

corporation and
interests of spouse
(Note 2)

ERBEBA - ZELF
ZREm Rk EER
(Bg=E2)
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders

(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Dizon Basilio ("Mr. Dizon”) is beneficially
interested in 18,895,000 shares and 4,388,000
share options in the Company. As at 31 March
2018, the share options have been lapsed. Mr.
Dizon also has controlling interests of 65% in L&W
Holding Limited ("L&W™). L&W is beneficially
interested in 271,502,312 shares in the Company.
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia ("Ms. Chow"), the spouse
of Mr. Dizon and the Director of the Company,
is beneficially interested in 32,962,800 shares in
the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Dizon is deemed
to be interested in 323,360,112 shares in the
Company under the SFO.

2. Ms. Chow is beneficially interested in 32,962,800
shares in the Company. Ms. Chow is the spouse
of Mr. Dizon and has confrolling interests in L&W.
Accordingly, She is deemed to be interested in
323,360,112 shares in the Company under the
SFO.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2018, the Directors of the Company were
not aware of any person who had an
inferest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No confracts of significance fo which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competed
or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights
under the Company’s Bye-Laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall
be enftitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or damages
which he may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his office, or
otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors” and Officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and Officers of the
Group.
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REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities in the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2018.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company, with
written terms of reference in line with the
code provision on set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the "Code”)
as stipulated in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”), currently
comprises of fwo Independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lai Qiang and Mr. Fan
Chun Wah Andrew. Following the retirement
of Mr. Joseph Lee Chennault on 22 August
2017, the Company comprises of two Audit
Committee members, the number of which fell
below the minimum number required under
rules 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Board will
commence a process to identify replacement
so as to fulfill the requirement, as set out in rules
3.21 of the Listing Rules, and in the respective
terms of reference of Audit Committee of the
Board as regards to the minimum of members.

The Audit Committee of the Company
has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed the internal
conftrol, risk management and financial
reporting matters including the review of the
audited financial statement for the year ended
31 March 2018.

545 20172018 X{LBEEEARAT 39

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERGEE

BE - HEREE LHES

ARARREMBLABERBEEZE T - N\F=A4
=t-HLEFERER  HEHE@D AR R FEM
LEHRES o

BEREES

AARBEREZES (HEARESENS T BY
EREGHARABR (B NDES LHRAUT L
mARA DM+ Oz hRERER AR D
Pz s AR REFABREERSERELE
MUBLFATESEN - RMRLEXREE=ZF
—tFNBZTZHRMER A RAEMEBEFK
ZEEME  BRETRAUEI2NHRREZHE
HE  ESSHRRVEABEBZESER U
HELTRAUEI2NGNAEAREETS 2FEX
ZECSHREEURSZEERIHEABNS
F o

ARRAZEREESCHEEEFRNAKE MK
meastRAIRER - WHwmAIMERE - BARE
BERUBE2HRESE  BREFHBE=Z-/N\F
ZAZT-HUEFEZEERYBEHRR -



40

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group had complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a material impact on the business of the
Group in all material aspect and there were
no circumstances of material breach or non-
compliance of applicable laws and regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Regarding the ESG performance, the Group
strictly complied with applicable regulations,
laws, and standards related to environmental
and social aspects. For the year ended 31
March 2018, managerial focus on information
digitalization continues to assist the Group to
achieve long-term business resilience, fulfilling
its economic, environmental and social
sustainability. Engagement with stakeholders
has resulted in raised concerns on key material
issues on various social aspects. The Group
will continue to identify areas of improvement
for the concerned aspects and keep close
communication with its stakeholders for
advancing ESG management.

A separate environmental, social and
governance report is expected to be published
on the website of the Stock Exchange no later
than three months after the publication of this
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out
on pages 42 to 57 of the annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the "Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2018.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date
of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2018 were audited by
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who will retire and a
resolution to re-appoint Deloitte as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 22 June 2018
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to achieving high
standards of corporate governance which
is crucial to the development of the Group
and safeguard the interests of the Company’s
shareholders. To accomplish this, the Group has
adopted practices which meet the Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. During
the year, the Company has complied with the
Code except for the following deviations:

CODE PROVISION A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-
Executive Directors should be appointed for
a specific term, subject to re-election. The
current independent Non-Executive Directors
of the Company are not appointed for a
specific term. However, all Directors (including
Executive and Non-Executive) of the Company
are subject to retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting in accordance with
Bye-Law 110(A) and 190(v) of the Bye-Laws
of the Company. As such, the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been
taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than
those in the Code.
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CODE PROVISION E.1.2

Under the code provision E.1.2, the Chairman
of the Board should attend the annual general
meeting. The position of the Chairman of the
Board was not filled before the Company’s
annual general meeting held on 22 August
2017. However, an Executive Director, present
at the annual general meeting then took the
chair of that meeting in accordance with the
Bye-Laws of the Company.

The Company will arrange for the election of
the new Chairman of the Board as soon as
practicable in order to fill up the vacancy as
Chairman.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as its own code for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 March 2018.
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LAFERRE

MINIMUM NUMBERS OF AUDIT
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Following the retirement of Mr. Joseph Lee
Chennault on 22 August 2017, the Company
comprises of two Audit Committee members,
Mr. Lai Qiang and Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew,
the number of which fell below the minimum
number required under rules 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.

The Board will commence a process to identify
replacement so as to fulfill the requirements
as set out in rules 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
and in the respective terms of reference of
the Audit Committee of the Board as regards
fo the minimum of members. The Company
will mark further announcement as and when
appropriate.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2018, the Board comprises of
the Vice Chairman, the Managing Director, two
Executive Directors and three Independent
Non- Executive Directors. The Board of Directors
is principally accountable to the shareholders
and is responsible for the leadership and
control of the Group including overseeing
the Group’s businesses, strategic directions,
financial performance, setting objectives and
business development plans, and monitoring
the performance of the senior management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board of Directors meets regularly
throughout the year to formulate overall
strategy, monitor business development as well
as the financial performance of the Group
and has formal procedures on matters for

EEE(E)

consideration and decision-making. The Board
of Directors has delegated certain authorities
to the senior management for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s operation. The
attendance of Directors at the board meetings

held during the year is as follows:

ExesFeEHanEs
EEAREZEBRRERMBRE  UHARFE
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Attendance/
Number of
Directors Meetings
HERS
BE= BERE
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (Vice BRE#ELZ+ (FEE) 13/21
Chairman)
Dr. Lai Tak Kwong Andrew RENREL 0/0
(resigned as Executive Director on (R=—F—tFEMAABFTHITESE)
8 April 2017)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung AR LEE 21/21
(Managing Director) (EFAEATE)
Mr. Yuen Kin = BEx 11/11
(appointed on 14 September 2017) (R=—ZF—tENATIHZEF)
Mr. Tang U Fai HFEEE 6/6
(retired on 22 August 2017) (R=ZF—+ENAZ1+=HIEMF)
Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth MR EE 16/21
Mr. Chen Man Lung PR BEXE 16/21
(resigned on 16 April 2018) (R=ZZF—/NEMAH A+ HEHT)
Independent Non-Executive Directors B E#HTES
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERESLE 20/21
Mr. Joseph Lee Chennault FRALAE 4/6
(retired on 22 August 2017) (R=ZF—+ENAZ1+=HIEMF)
Mr. Lai Qiang ¥ omkE 14/21
Ms. Ng Ying R "Lt 19/21
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the Independent Non-Executive Directors as
required under rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered all Independent Non-
Executive Directors to be independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit
Committee with written terms of reference
which is aligned with the code provisions set
out in the Code.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice
a year for reviewing the reporting of annual
and interim results and other information to
the shareholders, and the effectiveness and
objectivity of the audit process. Additional
meetings may be held by the Audit Committee
from ftime to time to discuss special projects
or other issues which the Audit Committee
considers necessary. The external auditors
of the Company may request a meeting
if they consider that one is necessary. The
Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company’s
auditors in matters coming within the scope of
ifs terms of reference and keeps under review
the independence and objectivity of the
auditors.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises of
fwo Independent Non-Executive Directors. The
Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Lai Qiang.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed
with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed about auditing, intfernal control,
risk management and financial reporting
matters including the review of the audited
financial statements and unaudited interim
financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Confinued)

During the year, the members and attendance
of the meetings of the Audit Committee are as
follows:
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Attendance/

Number of

Directors Meetings
HERE

2= BRERE
Mr. Lai Qiang ¥ omkE 2/2
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEEESE 2/2
Mr. Joseph Lee Chennault FRALAE & 1/1

(retired on 22 August 2017)

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Office ("CEQO")
should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and
CEO should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The chairman’s roles are convening
meetings of the Board and make decision of
the Group’s business strategies. Currently, the
Board comprises of four executive Directors
and no chairman or CEO is designated.

The roles and functions of both chairman and
CEO have been performed by all the executive
Directors collectively. The Board believes that
the Company has already a sfrong corporate
governance structure in place to ensure
effective oversight of management. The Board
will continue to review the effectiveness of
current management structure from time to
fime and may make changes if and when
appropriate. The Board will also continue to
monitor and review the Company’s corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance
with the Code.
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TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-Executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The current
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific
term. However, all Directors (including
Executive, and Independent Non-Executive
Directors) of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting in accordance with Bye-Law 110(A)
and 190(v) of the Bye-Laws of the Company.
As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken fo ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices
are no less exacting than those in the Code.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Group
has been established in November 2005 with
written terms of reference in line with the
Code. The Remuneration Committee will
meet as and when necessary or as requested
by any Committee member to consider
and recommend to the Board the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure and to
review and detfermine the remuneratfion
packages of the Executive Directors and senior
management. The Directors are remunerated
with reference to their respective duties
and responsibility with the Company, the
Company’s performance and current market
situation.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of fwo Independent Non-Executive
Directors and one Executive Director. The
Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr.
Fan Chun Wah Andrew. Details of emoluments
of the Directors from the Group for the year
are as disclosed in note 13 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Statistics of each Remuneration Committee

member’s attendance at the Remuneration
Committee Meeting:

Name of members

REHR

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBERESAE
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia BAEZEzL
Mr. Lai Qiang O omiLE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company,
the Company established a Nomination
Committee on 26 March 2012 with written tferms
of reference, to formulate nomination policy
for the Board’s consideration and implement
the Board’s approved nomination policy. The
Board of Directors has the power from time to
time to appoint any person as a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board of Directors. The nomination shall
be taken in consideration of the nominee’s
qualification, ability and potential contribution
to the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

According to the written terms of reference,
the Nomination Committee shall consist of
three Directors, a majority of whom shall
be Independent Non-Executive Directors
appointed by the Board of Directors from time
to time. Currently, the Nomination Committee
comprises of one Executive Director, Ms. Chow
Lai Wah Livia, and two Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Fan Chun Wah
Andrew and Mr. Lai Qiang.

Statistics of each Nomination Committee

member’s attendance at the Nomination
Committee Meeting:

Name of members

REHE

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia BEELL
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERE L4
Mr. Lai Qiang ¥ omi4LE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Company established a Corporate Governance
Committee (the "CGC”") on 26 April 2010
with written terms of reference. The CGC
obligates to advise upon any transaction of the
Company which the Board is proposed to enter
or transact for and on behalf of the Company,
and give a collective opinion to the Board as
to the propriety, feasibility and prudence of
entering intfo such transactions.

According to the written terms of reference,
the CGC comprised of 4 members. Currently
the CGC is chaired by Mr. Kwan Kin Chung
("Mr. Kwan”).
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements for
each financial period which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and of the results and cash flows for that
period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are also responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group, for safeguarding the
assets of the Group and for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

Auditor’s Responsibilities and
Remuneration

During the year, the audit fee for the Group
amounted to approximately HKS1,850,000.

The statement of the auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities is set
out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 58 to 67.
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LAFERRE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Risk Management and Internal control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility fo
ensure sound and effective risk management
and internal confrol systems and reviewing
their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
risk management and internal control systems
are reviewed at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budgeft
of the Group’s infernal audit and financial
reporting functions.

Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage and
mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Through the Audit Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee, the Board conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal
confrol systems, covering the material
control, including financial, operational
and compliance controls. The management
are primarily responsible for applying and
for supporting the risk management and
infernal control processes. The operating unifs
and support functions are facilitated and
coordinated by the management, and ensure
that risk management processes and mitigation
plans follow good practices and guidelines
established in their day-to-day operations. Any
risk events and incidents identified are reported
by the operating units and support functions to
the management in a timely manner.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Main Features of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems
include the establishment of strategic risk
register fo monitor the identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the
continuous updating of risk responses for each
key risk identified to ensure the effectiveness of
the mitigation procedures on an ongoing basis.
A risk maftrix approach is adopted to determine
the significance of the risk after evaluation
of the risk in accordance to the likelihood
of occurrence and severity of the risk event
identified. The significance of the risks reflects
the level of management’s attention and risk
responses.

Risk management process is integrated with
the internal control systems, so that the
Group’s ability to handle risks that hinder the
achievement of financial, operational and
compliance goals are strengthened and the
allocation of resources are more adequate.

Process used to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of
events that could influence the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. The
Group identifies outfside and inside events by
reviewing its external and internal environment
and stakeholders, that have an influence or
potential influence on the Group’s ability fo
achieve its strategy and business objectives.
The risk identification process takes place at
least once a year. Furthermore, any risk events
and incidents identified by the operating units
and support functions will be reported to the
management in a timely manner.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Process used to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks (Continued)

The risks identified are evaluated with a
risk matrix which prioritises risks according
to the likelihood of their occurrence and
the significance of their impact on the
achievement of the Group’s business
objectives. Following the review of the risk
matrix, the Group selects and deploys the
corresponding risk responses and investigates
the mitigation procedures to be executed
to ensure the identified significant risks were
managed to an acceptable level.

Process used to review the
effectiveness of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The Group does not have an internal audit
function due to the size of the Group and for
cost effectiveness consideration. The Board
would be directly responsible for internal
control of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Group continues to review
the need for an internal audit function annually.
An independent consultant (“the consultant”)
was engaged to perform a review on the risk
management and internal control systems. The
Consultant has reported findings and areas for
improvement to the Board and management.
The Board and management are of the view
that no material defects are noted in the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.

The recommendations from the Consultant are
properly followed up by the Group to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective and no significant
control failings or weaknesses was identified for
the year ended 31 March 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Inside Information Policy

The Group has established policies for
the handling and dissemination of inside
information. Such policy is set out inside the
staff manual and all staff is required to comply.
In addition, each personnel are granted a
specific level of access to the price sensitive
and inside information. The Directors, senior
management and employees are informed with
the latest regulatory updates.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, the company secretary of
the Company, is a full time employee of the
Company. During the year, the company
secretary has duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company is aware of its responsibility fo
look after the interests of its Shareholders.
Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws 70 and
section 74 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981
(as amended) (the "Act”), the Board, on the
requisition of Shareholders of the Company
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, can convene a special general
meeting ("SGM") to address specific issues of
the Company within 21 days from the date of
deposit of written notice to the registered office
of the Company. If the Board fails fo proceed
fo convene a meeting, the requisitionists,
or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves convene a meeting, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the said
date.
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LAFERRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
(Continued)

The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting together with proposals to be
put forward at such meeting, signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those Shareholders. Besides, the
writfen requisition must be valid in pursuant to
section 79 and 80 of the Act. The requisition will
be verified with the Company’s share registrars
and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary
will ask the Board of the Company to convene
the SGM after the deposit of such requisition
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged
by the Company to afttend the Company’s
general meeting.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company after each shareholder meeting.

Shareholders are provided with contact details
of the Company, such as felephone number,
fax number, postal address and the Company’s
website address in order to enable them fto
make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company. Shareholders may
make enquiries to the Board by writing to the
Company at the Company’s head office in
Hong Kong at Suite 1502, 15/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong
Kong. In addition, Shareholders can contact
the share registrar of the Company, if they
have any enquires about their shareholding
issues.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Board gives high priority to balanced, clear
and fransparent communications which allow
shareholders and investors to understand the
Group’s prospects and the market environment
in which it operates. The Company engages
with shareholders and other investors through
various channels of communication to help
ensure that their views and concerns are
understood and addressed in a constructive
way.

The Company’s constifutional documents
have been posted on the Company’s website
at www.culturecom.com.hk. During the year,
there had been no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

15 3L % By bih 3R

Deloitte

To the Shareholders of
Culturecom Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages
68 to 194, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “"HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that,
in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the contfext
of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these maftters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B RXBED RS

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Net realisable value (“NRV”) assessment of
inventories

We identified the NRV assessment of inventories
as a key audit matter due to their significance
to the consolidated statement of financial
position as a whole and the significant
judgement and assumptions involved in the
estimation of the NRV of the Group’s inventories
which comprise premium wine.

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management carries
out inventory review on a product-by-product
basis at the end of the reporting period. As
further disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of
premium wines and other inventories were
approximately HK$37,809,000 (net of allowance
of Nil) and approximately HK$739,000 (net of
allowance of HK$15,898,000), respectively. The
management performed the inventory review
including the estimation of the respective NRV
which was determined as the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary o make the sale.

The estimation of the respective NRV takes
into account a number of factors including
prices of actual sales during and subsequent
fo the reporting period and independent
market information in relation to each of the
inventories held by the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Net realisable value (“NRV”) assessment of
inventories (Continued)

Our procedures in relation to the NRV
assessment of the inventories included:

. Understanding the inventories allowance
policy of the Group;

. Discussing with the management and
evaluating their product-by-product review
of the inventories held by the Group;

J Assessing the reasonableness of the
estimation of the NRV of inventories
performed by management by:

1. festing the actual sales, on a sample
basis, during and subsequent to
the reporting period to assess the
reasonableness of the estimated
selling price;

2. evaluating management’s
identification of any inventory
requiring specific write downs due to
damage or other quality issues with
reference to the information obtained
during our inventory count; and

3. conducting an interview with the
relevant winery and performing
independent market research to
evaluate the market information used
by management to estimate the latest
selling prices of the wines;, and

o Assessing the accuracy of the allowance
for inventories in those instances where
the estimated NRV is lower than respective
cost of the inventory.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B RXBED RS

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the other informatfion. The other information
comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the
consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this
ofther information, we are required fo report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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15 3L % By bih 3R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with
HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, infentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of
internal conftrol.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal
conftrol relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the
directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability fo continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

B BEDRE

R B GRS BRRAENSE

(%)

THREETEENRIIES - URFTEEN
EiRF  EENLEFHERERIESR
BRMBERER -

FEESRASTERENREERFLE
AT MERE BN SR -

HESRAKEQSLE S ERNREMFL
o RIBFIENMMETRR  BERSR
HRHESEHFRBENERNTEEN. - M
REFHESEENIFECERIELEERK
BE - MIREPBBFEEATEEM » A
BLEERBMBETRBEAEIRGS
MBEBRPOEERE - BEEBENEES
B RAIRMEEZRXRFEREER - RAM
EWEERKEERE A EFTREHETRE
oA ARBERBRATEREHERE

a4 g2 gz g
TEEHELE -



66

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure
and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with
governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and fiming of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that
we idenftify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with
governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2017-2018

BB R B RS BRRAENTE

(%)

o FESSHBHRRNERIRLSN - EBA
RE - BEHRE  URGSHBHREREST
BRRZZMEHE -

s HEKEAERIEBITIDNMBEEER
FRE - EENETRRE  UHESHBERER
BRRBER -HMEEEEEEANLE &
BNHT - RMABFFERAERIER -

BREMEBEIERN  RADEEEBBE T EINEST
E - FEZH  EXFFRES  BERMAE
FEat PR BB B IR MY A B KR BA o

EMERAAEERXEBYE  HARMNCHEEH
BUMHNEBRERERER  TEMMEEET
REEEMERAEERMB LN EEEM
HMEER UAREEANBRT - HENHEE
i o



F3R 2017-2018 XLEEEERRAT 67

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those
charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting
in the independent auditor’s report is Lee Po
Chi.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRREfEZEaR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2018 2017
=E2-N\#F —E—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
s FERT FHET
Revenue ON 5 34,910 24,026
Cost of sales SHE KA (53,547) (8.869)
Gross (loss) profit (B18)EA (18,637) 15,157
Other income Hig A 6a 424 699
Other gains and losses, net Hihm=REE T8 6b 1,648 (23,415)
Other operating expenses HihZEER (19,374) (40,756)
Salaries and allowances ETHESNER (10,157) (18,124)
Operating lease rentals in respect FHEHih 2 LM
of rented premises HERS (7,698) (7,507)
Depreciation expenses EER (1,744) (1,340)
Share of losses of associates EiLEBE N REE (333) (1,455)
Gain on contribution to an mEEAREEZ
associate g 15 1,476 —
Gain on disposal of an associate HEBE AR 2 ES — 29,884
Cost incurred for online platform ERTaHEREES
maintenance B 8 — (2,978)
Impairment loss on film right and EYMERRERET 2
film production in progress REEE 17 (3,383) —
Loss before tax BRBIAIES B 9 (57,778) (49,835)
Income tax expense Fris®ip 10 (18) (1,202)
Loss for the year FEEE (57,796) (51,037)
Other comprehensive income Hit 2w =
Items that may be reclassified BENREEN D EEZE &
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIEE
Exchange gain on translation of BREBIINEB B RE
financial statements of foreign 2B 5 s
operations 316 602
Reclassification of exchange BN BHEBNER
loss on disposal of a foreign ZEREE
operation 854 —
Other comprehensive income for  FEHME2EKZE
the year 1,170 602
Total comprehensive expense for FEXmEXEEE
the year (56,626) (560,435)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS_AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FelRaRREttZERaR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note HK$’000 HK$"000
M FER FHET
(Loss) profit for the year FEREE (EE) &R
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ANEHEE A (58,042) (48,753)
Non-controlling interests R ER 246 (2,284)
(57,796) (51,037)
Total comprehensive expense BiE2HEMAZ 2% :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company AATEEB A (56,313) (48,344)
Non-controlling interests FERER (313) (2,091)
(56,626) (560,435)
Loss per share BRER 12
Basic (HK cents) B (BAL) (4.2) (3.7)

Diluted (HK cents) 58 (84L) (4.2) (3.7)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEeMBRAR

AT 31 MARCH 2018
R-ZEBE—-NF=ZA=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FHER FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRZE 14 805 2,029
Interest in an associate REE AR 2R 15 1,143 —
Intangible assets BEERE 16 1,385 1,385
Film right and film production in EXMEREAESR
progress B 17 1,620 31,600
Deposits and prepayments BeRENARE 20 555 3,796
5,508 38,810
Current assets REEE
Inventories 7E 18 38,548 57.541
Trade receivables W E 5 BRX 19 23,167 3,125
Other receivables, deposits and HihEWARIE - RER
prepayments FENRIE 20 7,821 5,769
Tax recoverable ] Y B F 18 871 —
Held for trading investments HIEEERE 21 7,080 6,640
Bank balances and cash RITEERES 22 238,393 263,532
315,880 336,607
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables BB 5 ERRX 23 437 318
Other payables and accrued H{th B SR IE R FE ST
charges BH 23 9,571 10,644
Tax payable FES IR — 435
10,008 11,397
Net current assets REEEFE 305,872 325,210
Total assets less current liabilities BEENABEES 311,380 364,020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
meMBRAR

AT 31 MARCH 2018
RZE-NF=ZA=+—H

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—tHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt =E FHET FET
Non-current liability kRBEE
Deferred tax liability EEREEE 24 698 712
Net assets EEFE 310,682 363,308
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital & < 25 13,907 13,907
Share premium and reserves BRRERFEE 302,234 354,816
Equity aftributable to owners of RABEE AEGEESR
the Company 316,141 368,723
Non-controlling interests IR ERS (5,459) (5,415)
Total equity R 310,682 363,308
The consolidated financial statements on pages ESEEFIVUMBEZHGEMBBRERN=-ZS—NE

68 to 194 were approved and authorised for AAEZTtT - HEREESSHMED SRR SR T
issue by the board of directors on 22 June 2018 EE T
and are signed on its behalf by:

KWAN KIN CHUNG YUEN KIN
B2 =g
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EFE EFE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeERBRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

Athibutable to owners of the Company

FAREEARE -

Capital Share Non-
Share Share  Contribution Warrant ~ redempfion  Translafion options Other ~ Accumulated controling Total
capital premium surplus esenve feseve Tesenve fesenve fesenve losses Sub-toal inferests equity

b hg B4 BERRE  ETREEE EiRE  HRERE EftRE RifER N HERER gz

H(S'000 HkS'000 HKS 000 S 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000

T T A A A A Tin Tin Tin in in in
(Note 0) (Note b)

(Kita) (Kitb)
AT Aprl 2016 HZ5-7ERA-B 1212 1,837,696 76N 29I ) (1.618) 15,358 128 (1.856,663) 266400 (20,064) 245,89
Lossfor fhe year £EHE - - - - - - - N N N N Y1)
Other comprehensive Income i 0N
Bxchange gain on frandlafion e B

o finoncial statements of HRIER

foreign operafions e - - - - - 409 - - - 409 193 602
Total comprehensive income ERALENA

(ewpense) for the year (Bx) - - - - - 109 - - (48753) (834 20m) (50435)
Evercise of warrants (Note 26) fiEaRER (K 20) 1468 136,578 - 154 - - - - - 11549 - 11549
Erercise of share opfions (Note 27) ~ T¥BRE(K27) bl 1% - - - - (12.999) - - 3043 - 3043
Lapsed of warans (Note 26) FRERKA(Ki20) - - - ®) - - - - I - - -
Lapsed of share opfions (Nofe 27) BB (K&27) - - - - - - (15,169) - 15,165 - - -
Acquisiion of addionalinferest ~~ BE-FHEATH

in a suosidiry (Nofe ) EhEs (i) - - - - - - - (5050) - (5050) 5080 -
Disposal of partial inferests n HERBLANDE

subsiciories (Note 0 EallEd) - - - - - - - 766 - 766 10% 1800
Relecse upon disposal of LERBLTREE

subsiciories (Note 26) (k) - - - - - - - - - - 11,15 11,15
At 31 Morch 2017 HZE-tEZj=1-8 13907 202,611 men 4300 g (1,209) 41,194 (3,050)  (1.890,208) 368723 (5.419) 363,308
(Loss) proft for the year EE(RE)EA - - - - - - - - (56,042 (56,042 b (57,796)
Other comprehensive Income i 0N

Bxchange gain on frandlafion BEENRENE

o finoncial statements of HRIEL
forelgn operations g - - - - - 875 - - - 875 (559) 36
Reclassication of exchange EfARLEES
loss on disposal of foreign $HOER
operafion FE - - - - - 854 - - - 854 - 854
Total comprehensive income ERB2ENAER)

(expense) for fhe year - - - - - 1729 - - (56,042) (56,313) (313 (56,626)
Lapsed of warans (Note 26) IRERRA(HE2L) - - - (4361) - - - - 4% - - -
Lopsed of share opfions (Nofe 27) ~ BRE&R(K&27) - - - - - - (47,194) - a9 - - -
Disposal of partial inferests in HERBLNBR

subsialaries (Note d) Bl - - - - - - - 31 - 318 % 4,000
At 31 March 2018 HZE-NEZj=1-8 13907 205,811 ngn - g 50 - 081 (1,896,695) 36,141 (5,459) 310,682
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes:

(@

®)

©

(@

Conftribution surplus represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of
the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal amount of
the Company’s share capital issued as consideration
for the acquisition as at the date of the group
reorganisation in prior years.

Warrant reserve arises from the issue of warrants less
the expenses incurred on warrants issue. Upon exercise
and lapse of warrant, warrant reserve would be
transferred to share premium and accumulated losses
respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group
acquired an additional equity interest of 8.3% of Ucan.
com Group Limited from non-conftrolling inferest with a
cash consideration of HK$9,900. After the acquisition,
Ucan.com Group Limited become a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group.

During current year, the Company has disposed of
(i) 5% equity interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary to
an independent third party for a consideration of
HK$2,800,000; and (ii) 20% equity interest in a subsidiary
to an independent third party for a consideration of
HK$1,200,000. The disposals were completed upon
which the Group transferred respective equity interests
to the independent third parties.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company
has disposed 30% equity interest in a subsidiary to an
independent third party for a cash consideration of
HK$1,800,000 on 31 March 2017.

®)

©

()

FeHRBIDRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

BEHBBERBEFEMBBENELQR 2RAEEER
SEHEARSERRBREMRTZALRARAHEZ
EH e

RARERRBEELEARTAREZIARITAREZE
ENER RRREBETERANE  RREZHB
D BIREBRERDEERREEIE -

REBZE-_Z—tF=A=1+—HLFE FEEBHkE
BEZWEE Ucan.com Group Limited %840 8.3% ik
> RENREAE900B T RUEE®E  Ucan.com
Group Limited X BAEBHNEZEMB AR ©

RAEFE > ARAAE(B—BBLE=ZFHE—BE
EMELORS%KAE {8 %2800000% T ; &)
M—EBUE=FHE—RKB QT 20%KRE  RE
#1,200,000/8 7w - AEEMEBIE=ZFEESERE
% ZEHESHEEREHK o

REBEZE-ZZ—tE=ZA=+—-HLEE  A2FAER=
E—t+tF=A=+—HO—-BBUE=ALHE—RKBE
AT 30%MAE - BENAMEH1,800,0008 T ©



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FelenER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES P38
Loss before tax MREBIRIEE (57,778) (49,835)
Adjustments for: MTINSIEZFE .
Allowance for inventories FERE 397 —
Allowance for doubtful debts RERE 421 57
Amortisation on film right B REHEHE 29,405 —
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BERKRE
and equipment e 1,744 1,755
Gain on contribution to an AE—EHE QT
associate & (1,476) —
Gain on disposal of an associate HEREE N TG — (29,884)
Gain on fair value change of BIEEERELNTEHE
held for trading investments b Al 6 (428) (336)
Impairment loss on property, ME - - BMERZREZ
plant and equipment BEEE - 4,469
Impairment losses on other Hit R RIERES
receivables and deposits BEEE — 8,406
Impairment loss on film right and EYMERBERESR
film production in progress ZBEEE 3,383 —
Interest income FEUWA 89) (153)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAREE 848 9,464
Loss on written off of property, MWEEME - BERRE
plant and equipment ZE1E 779 —
Reversal of impairment loss on BEZE 2 HEEE
deposits (1,021) —
Share of losses of associates FEAL B & N R 518 333 1,455
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBaiEeR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
s FEx FET

Operating cash flows before EEESRHAI 2K

movements in working capital REeRE (23,482) (54,602)
Decrease in inventories FERD 18,596 3,033
(Increase) decrease in trade FE R & 5 BR 7R (48 hn) Rl 2>

receivables (20,463) 641
Increase in held for trading FEEEREE M

investments (12) —
Increase in other receivables, HMERR « RERFES

deposits and prepayments FRIEIE N (448) (2,563)
Increase in trade payables B 2 BRFIE 119 76
Decrease in other payables and HinEN R R EFTER

accrued charges DERe (1,073) (1,082)
Cash used in operations KREAZRE (26,763) (54,497)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENEBREH (1,338) —
Tax refunded for other jurisdictions Htt B EEERE R 2B — 389
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REEKBRACEESFE

ACTIVITIES (28,101) (54,108)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEK
Net cash (outflow) inflow on HEMBARZRE TR

disposal of subsidiaries (RE)RA 28 (1,905) 437
Purchases of property, plant and  BEYE - BEKRRKXE

equipment (1,317) (148)
Interest received 2 RS 89 153
Costs in film production in progress Bt ZBEHEZLER

paid — (31,600)
Proceeds on disposal of an HEBE AR ZMEBRE

associate — 62,257
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REEK (IR Bz

INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEFE (3,133) 31,099




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBaiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FBT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES L E EK
Proceeds on disposal of partial HEBRREEFES
interests in subsidiaries without MEBARH DR
losing control 8RR 5,800 —
Proceeds from issue of shares upon 1T{EREREERITRHD 2
exercise of warrants FriSs I8 — 115,499
Proceeds from issue of shares upon 1T{EERERITIRG 2
exercise of share options B RIE — 39,433
NET CASH FROM FINANCING MEXKFE2EEFE
ACTIVITIES 5,800 164,932
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH BE&RkBESZEWORD)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ¥ hEEE (25,434) 131,923
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REJFZREREEEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 263,532 130,501
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EX@E &
RATE CHANGES 295 1,108
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REXRZERERBEESEEY
END OF THE YEAR, represented 23H  |/OEERRS
by bank balances and cash 238,393 263,532
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
the registered office is Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda
and ifts principal place of business is Suite
1502, 15/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of itfs
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 34.
The Group’s principal places of business
are in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC™), including Hong Kong and Macau.

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$"),
which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOI.IDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year

The Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first
time in the current year:

Amendments Disclosure Initiative
to HKAS 7
Amendments Recognition of Deferred
to HKAS 12 Tax Assets for Unrealised
Losses
Amendments As part of the Annual
to HKFRS 12 Improvements to HKFRSs

2014 — 2016 Cycle

The application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2017-2018

ERFIEEMBRELENRE

CE ]

WA EE RN E BT ERE
X8> (55T

REAFE  AEEDEREREERHA
B2 TR E BB e B 2 (54T

BBETHER HKEXEHM
BT ERT
BBETEL MARBEBEER
B 125% 27T ELEBREEE
BEBYB|MEER  EHBYBREER
B 12352 87] —E-NFEECE
—NEBHZFE

Bz — 2D

RAFERBEBYBREER 2T L E
HAFERBEFEAKE ZPBRREEMN
MR/ RBEGREHBERRFABZIKEEHR
BEEERTE -



APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
and interpretations in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs
and interpretations that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

HKFRS @ Financial Instruments'
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Confracts
with Customers and the
related Amendments'
HKFRS 16 Leases?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
HK(IFRIC)- Foreign Currency
Int 22 Transactions and
Advance Consideration’
HK(IFRIC)- Uncertainty over Income
Int 23 Tax Treatments?
Amendments Classification and
o HKFRS 2 Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions'
Amendments Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
tfo HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'
Amendments Prepayment Features
to HKFRS 9 with Negative
Compensation?
Amendments Sale or Conftribution
to HKFRS 10 of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its

Associate or Joint
Venture®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
and interpretations in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments Plan Amendment,
to HKAS 19 Curtailment or
Settlement?
Amendments Long-term Interests in
to HKAS 28 Associates and Joint
Ventures?
Amendments As part of the Annual
tfo HKAS 28 Improvements to HKFRSs
2014 — 2016 Cycle'
Amendments Transfers of Investment
to HKAS 40 Property’
Amendments Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs to HKFRSs 2015 — 2017

Cycle?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021

Except for the new HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs and interpretations will have no
material impact on consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 intfroduces new requirements for
the classification and measurement of
financial assets, financial liabilities, general
hedge accounting and impairment
requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are
relevant to the Group are:

all recognised financial assets that
are within the scope of HKFRS 9
are required fto be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair
value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that
have contractual cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and
inferest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. Debt instruments
that are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved
both by collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets,
and that have contractual terms
that give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, are
generally measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
C"FVTOCI™). All other financial assets
are measured at their fair value at
subsequent accounting periods. In
addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may
make an irrevocable election to
present subsequent changes in the
fair value of an equity investment
(that is not held for frading) in other
comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised
in profit or loss; and

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\F=ZA=1t—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

. in relation fo the impairment of
financial assets, HKFRS 9 requires
an expected credit loss model, as
opposed to an incurred credit loss
model under HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement ("HKAS 39"). The
expected credit loss model requires an
entity to account for expected credit
losses and changes in those expected
credit losses at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is
no longer necessary for a credit event
to have occurred before credit losses
are recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments
and risk management policies as at 31
March 2018, the Directors anticipate
the following potential impact on initial
application of HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement

All financial assets and financial liabilities
will continue to be measured on the same
bases as are currently measured under
HKAS 39.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

Impairment

In general, the Directors anticipate that
the application of the expected credit
loss model of HKFRS 9@ will result in earlier
provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group’s financial
assets measured at amortised costs that
subject to the impairment provisions upon
application of HKFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the Directors,
the application of HKFRS 9 will not have
a material impact on the accumulated
amount of impairment loss to be
recognised by Group as at 1 April 2018,
compared to the accumulated amount
recognised under HKAS 39.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a
single comprehensive model for entities to
use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations when it becomes
effective.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (Continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an
entity should recognise revenue to depict
the transfer of promised goods or services
tfo customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. Specifically, the standard
infroduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contfract(s) with a
customer

» Step 2: ldentify the performance
obligations in the contract

* Step 3: Determine the fransaction price

» Step 4: Allocate the transaction price
to the performance obligations
in the contract

* Step 5: Recognise revenue when
(or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises
revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in
HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are
required by HKFRS 15.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2017-2018

R BN BRELENRE

1Z5 (&)

BRMBREEANFISHEREF
Fa®zWA (&)
EBMBRELAE ISR 2RO RE
BREAWAUETRAE S EEAHERS
BRERERMERASRIAERRREE
BEGZNME - ABMS  2ERISI AR
WA 2 BESE

« B—H MAEEFIIZEHN

o FZH: BASHhZBHNER

s F=H: BEXRSE

c FOF  SHNERBHRNEIIERRSE
s BOY NERTHENSMER(SH

1) #ERR U A

REEBVHRELDNE 155 BERNE
BEBHNEER (B BREA - BT R
BEBNEEZ2ERIRB 2ZHE I
BTEFHEIABRA - BBV BHRELAE
15EEREERERRMAEREIES -
Lo BERMBRELERNE ISKERED
BHERE -



APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (Continued)

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to
HKFRS 15 in relation to the identification of
performance obligations, principal versus
agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

Based on the existing business model as
at 31 March 2018, the Directors anticipate
that the application of HKFRS 15 in the
future may result in more disclosures,
however, the Directors do not anficipate
that the application of HKFRS 15 will have
a material impact on the timing and
amounts of revenue recognised in the
respective reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive
model for the identification of lease
arrangements and accounting freatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases ("HKAS 177)
and the related interpretations when it
becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service
contfracts on the basis of whether
an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating
leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced
by a model where a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability have to be
recognised for all leases by lessees, except
for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured
at cost and subsequently measured at
cost (subject to certain exceptions) less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. The lease liability is
initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. Subsequently, the lease
liability is adjusted for interest and lease
payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the
classification of cash flows, operating
lease payments are currently presented
as operating cash flows. Upon application
of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation
to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will
be presented as financing cash flows by
the Group.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS
16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a
lease either as an operating lease or a
finance lease.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are
required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group as
lessee has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of approximately
HKS$6,189,000 as disclosed in Note 30. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a
lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the
Group will recognise a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability in respect of
all these leases unless they qualify for low
value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers
refundable rental deposits paid of
approximately HK$1,633,000 as rights under
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based
on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments
relating to the right to use the underlying
assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts
of such deposits may be adjusted to
amortised cost and such adjustments are
considered as additional lease payments.
Adjustments to refundable rental deposits
paid would be included in the carrying
amount of right-of-use assets.

Furthermore, the application of new
requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure
as indicated above.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance ("CO”").

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be
received fo sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly tfransaction between
market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation fechnique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or
a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

a basis, except for share-based payment
fransactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
tfransactions that are within the scope of
HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value
("NRV”) in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assefts.

In addition, for financial reporting
purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised intfo Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement
date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices included within Level
1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs
for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set
out below.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities confrolled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Conftrol is
achieved where the Company:

. has power over the investee;

J is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

J has the ability to use its power to
affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not
it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains contfrol over the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-conftrolling interests
having a deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made
tfo the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies into line
with Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to fransactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership
interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in subsidiaries that do not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount
by which the non-conftrolling interests
are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed
to owners of the Company.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership
interests in existing subsidiaries
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a«
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary and non-controlling interests are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assetfs (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKAS 39 or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the
Group has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of
associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associates. Changes in net assefts
of the associate other than profit or loss
and ofther comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership infterest
held by the Group. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment,
affer reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied
to determine whether it is necessary to
recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the enftire carrying
amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount,
Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal of the relevant associate.

When a group entity tfransacts with ifs
associate of the Group (such as a sale or
contribution of assets), profits and losses
resulting from the fransactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements to the
extent of interests in the associate that are
not related to the Group.

3} 2017-2018 LEEKERRAT 95

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

EXGEBEGE)
RBERRZRE ()

HAEEREHBENANEALED  H
ARFIEHERRES N HES » FIEE
MEDNERER - BEQARZRMERS
ERBERATZHBAERZAERER 2=
BEFABEHEREQATNREREE - It
S - ANERBE S 5T AT A H 2 WA R R
ENARRAZMESRAR  EEEZBE
N HEBEHENBEEESRERFEEM
B e Fit  fZEEQALENCEREMEE
WAER B EREE  ERHERBREE
FEEREHIBEER  AEESREE
MHEBREQXAKENENEEHERENRD
HEBER(FREHRIEAE) -

MEEERERASE BEQNTETRS
(PINEEHEREE) EHE QTR 2 &R
HAKBEEBZBERT  FEREAEELRS
BHBRPEAEBEQNRNETREMEE
Zam N RIS e



96

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement have rights to the
assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the joint arrangement. Joint
conftrol is the contfractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

When a group entity undertakes its
activities under joint operations, the Group
as a joint operator recognises in relation to
its intferest in a joint operation:

. its assets, including its share of any
assets held jointly;

. its liabilities, including its share of any
liabilities incurred jointly;

J ifs revenue from the sale of its share
of the output arising from the joint
operation;

. its share of the revenue from the sale
of the output by the joint operation;
and

. itfs expenses, including its share of any
expenses incurred jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses relating
to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable
to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interests in joint operations
(Continued)

When a group entity fransacts with a joint
operation in which a group entity is a joint
operator (such as a sale or confribution
of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other
parties to the joint operation, and gains
and losses resulting from the transactions
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent
of other parties’ interests in the joint
operation.

When a group entity fransacts with a joint
operation in which a group entity is a joint
operator (such as a purchase of assets),
the Group does not recognise its share of
the gains and losses until it resells those
assets to a third party.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable
and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the
normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured;
when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when
specific criteria have been met for each of
the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised
when goods are delivered and titles have
passed.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Service income is recognised when services
are provided.

Revenue from publication is recognised
when the books are delivered and fitle
has passed. Revenue from catering is
recognised when service is provided.
Revenue from online and social business
is recognised when services are provided
and products are delivered.

Royalty revenue is recognised on an
accrual basis in accordance with the
substance of the relevant agreement
(provided that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably). Royalties determined
on a time basis are recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the
agreement. Royalty arrangements that
are based on production, sales and other
measures are recognised by reference to
the underlying arrangement.

Dividend income from investments is
recognised when the shareholders’ rights
to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably).

Interest income is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance lease
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions
in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies
are refranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
seftlement of monetary itfems, and on
the retfranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are
tfranslated at the average exchange
rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of franslation
reserve (attributed to non-conftrolling
intferests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
attributable tfo the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal
of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are noft
recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint conftrol), the
proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement
benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “"MPF Scheme?”)
are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are
recognised at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefitfs
accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries), after deducting any amount
already paid.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment
fransactions

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees and
others providing similar services

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar
services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-
based payments determined at the grant
date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share option reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on
assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

Share options granted to suppliers

Equity-settled share-based payment
tfransactions with parties other than
employees are measured at the fair value
of the goods or services received, except
where that fair value cannot be estimated
reliably, in which case they are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the date the entity
obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service. The fair values of the
goods or services received are recognised
as expenses (unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum
of the tax currently payable and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income
because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all tfaxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

Such deferred assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected fo
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, tfo recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Current and deferred tax are recognised
in profit or loss, except when they relate
to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case, the current and
deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held
for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administration
purpose are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of items of assets over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives
and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the contfinued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as fthe
difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Infangible assets with finite useful lives
that are acquired separately are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is recognised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for
on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment
losses (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment losses on fangible
and intangible assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition
of an intangible asset are measured at
the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in profit or loss in
the period when the asset is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Research and development expenditure
incurred to develop online business

Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible assefts
arising from development activities (or
from the development phase of an internal
project) is recognised if, and only if, all the
followings have been demonstrated:

J the technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible
asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use
or sell the intangible asset; and

J the ability to measure reliably the

expenditure attributable to the
infangible asset during its development.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Research and development expenditure
incurred to develop online business
(Continued)

Application and infrastructure
development stage, graphical design
stage and content development stage
of a website development are similar in
nature to the development phase of an
infangible asset. Expenditure incurred in
these stages is recognised as an expense
when incurred, unless the expenditure
is incurred for purchasing or developing
hardware which is capitalised as property,
plant and equipment or directly aftributed
to preparing the web site of the online
platform in the manner intended by
Directors and meet all the recognition
criteria of internally-generated intangible
assets listed above.

Expenditure incurred in the content
development stage to the extent that
content is developed to advertise and
promote the Group’s own products and
services is recognised as an expense when
incurred (e.g. when the advertising services
are received).

The amount initially recognised for
internally-generated intangible asset is the
sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets
the recognition criteria listed above.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-
generated intangible asset is measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as intangible assets
acquired separately.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
Film production in progress

Film production in progress is stated at cost
less any provision for impairment losses.
Cost includes all costs associated with the
production of films including remuneration
for the film director, casts and production
crew, costumes, insurance, makeup and
hairdressing as well as rental of camera
and lighting equipment. Film production in
progress is transferred to film rights when
the film is released.

Film right

Film right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Amortisation for the film right
is charged so as to write off the cost of the
asset based on usage by way of various
distribution channels, such as theatrical
release, television release or infernet
release, and other licensing arrangement.,

Impairment losses on tangible and
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the
Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and
intangible assets (Continued)

When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an asseft
individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Where a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and
intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised as other gains immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. Costs of inventories are
determined on weighted average method.
NRV represents the estimated selling price
for inventories in the ordinary course of
business less costs necessary to make the
sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified info financial
assets at FVTPL and loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets
and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assetfs are recognised
and derecognised on a frade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assetfs within the
time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method
of calculating the amortised cost of a
debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, fransaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the debt instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an
effective interest basis for debt insfruments
other than those financial assets classified
as at FVTPL, for which interest income is
included in net gains or losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL
when the financial asset is held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for
frading if:

J it has been acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the near term;
or
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

. on initial recognition it is a part of
a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated
and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair
value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial assets. Fair value
is determined in the manner described in
Note 32.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade
receivables, other receivables and bank
balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate, except for short-
term receivables where the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL,
are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be
impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash
flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For all other financial assets, objective
evidence of impairment could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or counterparty; or

. breach of contracts, such as default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

J it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of
delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period of 0 to 90 days
for receivables of retailing and wholesales
and publishing and intellectual properties
licensing segments, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the amount of the impairment loss
recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial
asset is reduced by the impairment loss
directly for all financial assets with the
exception of frade receivables and other
receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
or an other receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised
cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount
of impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued
by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets
of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method
of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an
effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including frade payables
and other payables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial
asset only when the contractual rights to
the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset fo another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when
the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4. EHTREERRZEERKIR

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the accounting
policies, which are described in Note
3., the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The key estimates and assumptions that
may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4., HETHERERZZEFERR(E)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued) '
NRV assessment for inventories B8 285 FENME
At the end of the reporting period, the RBEER  AEERZEEREERNT
Group carries out an inventory review on o RERBHNLD RS BE 2O & BIFR
a product-by-product basis. The Group ERREFEEEELRE TEERZE
makes allowance for obsolete and slow- FERZ(BERBRENEARZENERE
moving inventory items identified that BERBYMSER BAFTFENAZERF
respective costs are less than the NRV. The B BRESERBEETRAEESLMEEM
Group estimates the NRV for inventories by 25 -

taken into account a number of factors
including prices of actual sales during
and subsequent to the reporting period
and independent market information. The
amount of allowance would be changed
as a result of changes in current market
conditions subsequently.

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying RZEBE-NF=ZA=+—H0 ' xX&EBEFE
amount of the Group’s inventories was 2 BRMHE{E A 38,548,0008 7t » E IR
HKS$38,548,000, net of allowance of 15,898,000t (=& —t & : 57,541,000
HK$15,898,000 (2017: HKS$57,541,000, net of Bt BEREE 15,760,00058T) ©

allowance of HKS$15,760,000).
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment on trade
and other receivables

Where there is objective evidence of
impairment loss, the Group takes into
consideration the estimation of future cash
flows. The amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). Where
the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may
arise.

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying amount
of trade receivables is HK$23,167,000
(2017: HKS$3,125,000), net of allowance
for doubtful debts of HK$1,049,000 (2017:
HKS$628,000). The carrying amount of
other receivables is HK$5,583,000 (2017:
HK$4,275,000), net of impairment loss of
HK$835,000 (2017: HK$835,000).
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6a.

REVENUE

Revenue represents the net amount
received and receivable for goods sold
and services provided by the Group,
after returns and frade discounts, and is
analysed as follows:
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5. kA

W AE A EERE LSRR I2 MRS B
REWEENBRE R E 5% 8 -
ERFMT -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$°000 HKS$000
FExT FHET

Publishing and intellectual properties AR & E R
licensing 8,367 10,060
Online and social business (Note) R RER () 3,147 10,416
Retailing and wholesales ZE M 20,378 1,076
Catering RNE 3,018 2,474
34,910 24,026

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2017, the
Group recognised revenue from sales of
bitcoins, considered as virtual inventories
by the Directors, of HK$8,127,000 (2018: Nil).
No bitcoins was held by the Group as at 31
March 2018 and 2017.

Mz: REBEZZ—tF=A=+-HLFE =#
ERALEEHEERTRALBEEZRAB
8,127,000 T(ZFE—NF: FE)  R==F
—“NERZZ—+tHF=ZA=+—0  KEEL
BB EMLL4EHE o

OTHER INCOME 6a. EMUg A
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FBT
Interest income FMEUWA 89 153
Sundry income MW A 335 546

424 699
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6b.OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6b. Hitt W= K 518 - FH

2018 2017
—=E-N\F —Z2—+F
HK$’000 HKS$’000
FERT FHET
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) R U (B8 F5 2,247 (1,35%)
Reversal of impairment loss on deposits %€ & G R {EE 8
(Note) (F3E) 1,021 —
Gain on fair value change of held for FEEERE 2 A FEE
trading investments 2Bz W 428 336
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZER
(Note 28) (Bi=E 28) (848) (9,464)
Loss on written off of property, plant W E - MERRE
and equipment 218 (779) -
Allowance for doubtful debts RIRRE (421) (87)
Impairment losses on other receivables HEWRERIZERE
and deposits (Note) 518 (FieE) — (8,4006)
Impairment loss on property, plant and %1% - BERRERE
equipment (Note 14) B8 (fizE 14) — (4,469)
1,648 (23,415)
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2017, fizx: REBE-E-—+tE=A=+—-HBLEFEE H

impairment losses of HKS$8,406,000 (2018: Nil)
on otfher receivables and deposits had been
recognised in profit or loss. The amounts either
have not been settled in accordance with
the repayment terms or there was default

(ZB-N\F: E)EREHP
TE U [ Lt 25 i WK TR 2 T RE
RREEREEERREER
B AMCEIZIMRERSE -

in payments from debtor. The Directors
determined that the recoverability of these
receivables was remote and hence full

impairment loss had been recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2018,
reversal of impairment loss of HK$1,021,000
(2017: Nil) on deposits was recognised in profit

or loss upon recovery of the amount.

£ @R E 51,021,000 % 7T (
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive
directors of the Company, being the
Group’s chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods
or services delivered or provided. This is
also the basis upon which the Group is
organised and specifically focuses on the
Group’s operating divisions. No operating
segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable
and operating segments under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are as follows:

— Publishing and intellectual properties
licensing: publication of comic books
and royalty income from licensing
intellectual properties of comic books.

— Online and social business: operating
online social platform by providing
music and online games, sales
of virtual inventories, design and
development of mobile applications
and operation of digital cinema and
film production.

— Retailing and wholesales: retailing of
wine and mobile phones in Hong Kong
and Macau.

— Catering: catering services in Macau.
All transactions between different

operating segments are charged at
prevailing market rates.
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7B E R
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue and results by reportable and
operating segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2018

DEER(EF)
L ONSES

UTAEAEB 2 WAREERARERLEE
2 EBERAE 2 B 4T o

BE-ZE-N\F=ZA=Z=+—-HLHFE

Publishing
and Online
intellectual and Retailing
properties social and
licensing business  wholesales Catering  Consolidated
i i &
MRER BER
B HRER SEAME #E ge
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TET TER TER TER TET
Revenue WA
External sales MPHE 8,367 3,147 20,378 3,018 34,910
Segment results PHEE 1,822 (46,819) 414 (2,944) (47,527)
Unallocated expenses RABEL (14,130)
Unallocated incomes RABMA 3,879
Loss before tax BB AIEE (57,778)
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NOTES TO THE COl:lSOI.IDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment revenue and results

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2017

ReMBGHRRMEE

7

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-ZE—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

7. ZTEER(E)
TEMAREE(E)

BE-ZE—tF=ZA=+—-HLFE

Publishing
and Online
intellectual and Retailing
properties social and
licensing business  wholesales Catering  Elimination ~ Consolidated
R
HEER BIR
R HREH  TEENE i) 3 &8
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000
TER THR THR TER TER THR
Revenue WA
External sales NpHE 10,060 10,416 1,076 2474 - 24,026
Inter-segment soles AHEHE - - 14 - (14) -
10,060 10,416 1,090 2474 (14) 24,026
Segment results LR 6,476 (33.477) (5.774) 212) - (34,89)
Unallocated expenses AOBEX (45.261)
Unallocated incomes AABRA 30,322
Loss before fox BREEE (49,835)
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7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment revenue and results
(Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in Note 3.
Segment results represent the loss before
tax incurred by each segment without the
allocation of incomes or expenses resulted
from gain on disposal of an associate,
gain on contribution to an associate,
loss on disposal of subsidiaries, gain on
fair value change of held for trading
investments, share of losses of associates
and unallocated corporate expenses. This
is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

As the Group’s assets and liabilities are
only reviewed by the CODM as a whole
and hence no analysis of the Group’s
assets and liabilities by operating segments
is disclosed.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. DEER(E)
(Continued) ‘
Other segment information H fth o #B & 8
For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE-ZE-N\F=ZA=+—HLEE
Publishing
and Online
intellectual and Retailing
properties social and
licensing business  wholesales Catering  Unallocated  Consolidated
R
HEER BRIk
RE EREH  FEEHE #e AR &4

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKY'000
TER TER TiEn TR TEn TER

Amounts reqularly provided o EHRFEEEHRRERME

the CODM: L8
Addition fo non-current assefs  FEERBEE
(Note) (st 55 126 - 475 61 1,317

Amounts included in the measure 382 WERFAE

of segment profit or loss: ZEE:
Depreciation of property, n%  BERRHE

plant and equipment HE 132 762 23 697 130 1,744
Reversal of impaiment losses & 2 HEFRAD

on deposits - (1,021) - - - (1,021)
Impairment loss on film right EYMERZFIEY

and film production ZHEEE - 3,383 - - - 3,383
Other advertising and AEEREEER

promotional expenses 60 - - - 5 65

Consulfancy and professional ~ HHRE£ER
fees 3 7 109

2,034 2,614
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Other segment information
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2017

7. ZEER(E)
Hib 2 ZEH (&)

BE-ZE—tF=ZA=1t—-HLFE

Publishing
and Online
intellectual and Retailing
properties social and
licensing business  wholesales Cafering  Unallocated  Consolidated
HRE
maEE BER
RE HRER  SEEME #e v &a
HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn ThRT TR ThT Thn
Amounts regularly provided to BT ELERREEMH
the CODM: ZEE !
Addifion fo non-current assets  FEFRBEE
(Note) (iz) - 34,510 4 2 19 34,556
Amounts included in the measure tEAPERFAIE
of segment profit or loss: k3
Depreciation of property, 0% BERRMEZ
plont and equipment e 136 1,043 265 51 260 1,755
Impairment losses on other RN E .
receivables AEFE - 1571 - - 835 8,406
Impairment loss on property, 1% BER#ZEZ
plont and equipment HEFE - 4,469 - - - 4469
Cost incurred for onling ERTaERMEE
platform maintenance ZER - 2978 - - - 2978
Other advertising and HttESREGER
promotional expenses - 5193 5 - - 5,198
Consulfancy and professional ~ HHRE£ER
fees 15 2192 788 146 11,761 14,902

Note: Non-current assets excluded interest in an

associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographic information

The Group’s operations are located in the
PRC, including Hong Kong and Macau.

Information about the Group’s revenue
from external customers is presented
based on the location of goods physically
delivered to or location of services
provided fto the customers and information
about its non-current assets is based on
geographical location of the assets.

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

2EEFR (E)

i & & B
AEEZEEMRAPE(BESBRRM) -

BRAAEERBEMDEF ZBAZERTIR
BERERXNzHEIMEFRERE
M2 MBBHEFRADEEZERE
REEZFIEMHE -

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REMBEFZBA FRBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017

—E-N\FE —E—+tF ZEB-NF —ZT—+tHF
HK$°000 HKS'000  HK$’000  HKS$'000
FHET FHET TR FExT

Hong Kong B (FEE)
(place of domicile)

The PRC I E

Macau B

29,123 18,204 5,309 38,716
2,769 2,287 6 3
3,018 3,535 193 91

34,910 24,026 5,508 38,810
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BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. DEER(E)
(Continued) '
Information about major FHEEEFEFZ2ER
customers
Revenue from customers of the HEEEREEMANEFAHEESER 10% 2
corresponding years contributing over 10% BEFZWAWMT :

of total sales of the Group are as follows:

2018 2017

—B-N\F —T—tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Customer A EFER 10,157 N/A®
Customer B' =2FZ! 10,145 N/A®
Customer C? EFER’ 3,581 3,753

Revenue from retailing and wholesales segment.
Revenue from publishing and intellectual
properties licensing segment.

No revenue is recognised in profit or loss for the
corresponding year.

WAREZEEM B o
WA B R R R EERED -

HRFELERNBSZPEBEMEA -

Revenue from major products and FEERANBRBERA
services
The following is an analysis of the Group’s AEEBNEFEERMNRBEEENBRA D40
revenue from its major products and ™
services:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—+F
HK$°000 HK$"000
FExT FBT
Comic books BEEEE 4,556 3,855
Premium wine BERE 20,378 —
Royalty income hi FE WL A 3,811 6,205
Digital cinema operation KREHIBEZ R 2,769 2,289
Catering service REREE 3,018 2,474
Bitcoins b 45 1 — 8,127
Others Hith 378 1,076
34,910 24,026
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

BE-_Z-N\E=ZA=+—HLEE

8. COST INCURRED FOR ONLINE 8. ERTRHEEFIEEZER
PLATFORM MAINTENANCE

During the year ended 31 March 2017,
expendiftures incurred mainly include
platform improvement and maintenance in
relation to game applications developed

RBE-ZE-—tF=ZA=Z=+—-HLFE"
FEL-ER(EEBREAEEME 2B
RAEABEZFEREREE)SHY
2,978,000 T (= F—N\F : E)RERFF

by the Group amounting to approximately

HK$2,978,000 (2018: Nil) in aggregate are
expensed when they are incurred for
maintaining the operation of the platform.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

BEERIBIH -

9. BRBIAIEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$"000
FERT FHET
Loss before tax has been arrived FRELAIES IR E HRR
at after charging: T5I&IE :
Staff costs BT HRAK
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) EEM 2 (FFEE13) 3,669 6,202
Other staff costs: HE TR :
— Retirement benefit scheme — EBRERFH B
conftributions 288 371
— Salaries and other benefits — HEeREMER 9,869 17,753
13,826 24,326
Auditor’s remuneration R <
— Audit services — EFHiRTE 1,850 1,820
— Non-audit services — FETRE 461 554
Amortisation of film right (included in  E&hAE#H (G AHER
cost of sales) (Note 17) ) (HEE17) 29,405 —
Depreciation of property, plant and 1% - BERREZITE
equipment included in cost of (GTATFERA)
inventories — 415
Consultancy and professional fees BAREXERGTAHEM
(included in other operating EEEMR) (M)
expenses) (Note) 2,614 14,902
Cost of inventories recognised as BRABI2FERAR(E
expenses (including allowance for £397,000 Btz EERE
inventories of HK$397,000 (2017: Nil)) HB(ZE—tF &) 24,142 8,869

REEEXNTHREBEERHEXSRZE
Rz&H -

Note: The amounts represent fees paid to FeE -
consultants providing professional advices on

business operations.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREBIFA X

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of
Bermuda, the Company is not subject to
any income tax in Bermuda for both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profits for both years. Under
the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Enferprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries

REBEEREZEZARRL - AR RWIEF
EEBARBREMIEMMRER -

BB EBIIRE M B F E 2 fh 5T ERBE
FR16.5% (=B —tF 1 16.5%) 2B ER
B RBEPEARAMBASERERE(E
EFREBREDREEMREBEZERMAA
MEFEZPEMBLRZHER25% - 1
Ht Bz EELE 2 BENREEREEE
ZERABRRGE -

is 25% for both years. Taxation arising in
other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Current tax REAT IR
— Hong Kong Profits Tax — BEBREHR — (798)
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR
— Hong Kong — BB 32) (476)
Deferred tax IERER IR
— Deferred tax credit — EEFHIFER 14 72
(18) (1,202)

Details of deferred tax are set out in EERIBFBEAKIEE24 ©

Note 24.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FTEHBAXZ(E)
(Continued)
The income tax expense for the year can FRASHMITEGASEBEREMEEEK
be reconciled to the loss before tax per =R YR A IBEEIRAT -

the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as

follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Loss before tax PR RIES 18 57,778 49,835
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of REBANEBHRE16.5%
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) (ZZ—+F: 16.5%)
AEZBIE 9,533 8,223
Tax effect of income not taxable in STEERTRMNBERB
determining taxable profit WA BEE 390 20
Tax effect of expense not deductible  sHEFERBURERIR a7 05K
in determining taxable profit 2B E (954) 4,777)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REBEFRIEEE
2K E (8,734) (4,756)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B A R ERRTIEEE
recognised 401 165
Effect of different tax rates of REMBEEREE 2
subsidiaries operating in other MEBLARZTERZE
jurisdictions a7 (622) 399
Underprovision in respect of prior years BEFERETE (32) (476)

Income tax expense Frie®ipx (18) (1,202)
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

11.

(Continued)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong
Legislative Council passed The Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the ™Bill”) which infroduces the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was
sighed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazette on the following day. Under
the fwo-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HKS$2 million of profits of qualifying
corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HKS2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will be applicable to the Company
for its annual reporting periods ending on
or after 1 April 2018.

The application of the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime is expected to have
insignificant effect to the Group.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year ended 31 March 2018, nor has
any dividend been proposed since the end
of reporting period (2017: Nil).
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The calculation of the basic and diluted
loss per share affributable to the owners
of the Company is based on the following

12. 3REE
ADTRE AR SRERREEE R R
I8 T SRR

data:
2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners BRFTESRERR #E
of the Company for the purposes of BB ARATEE A
basic and diluted loss per share EihFEEER (58,042) (48,753)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
000 ‘000
TR TR
Weighted average number of shares BRI ESREAREE
for the purposes of basic and diluted  EiE 2z IEFIRE
loss per share 1,390,657 1,301,628

The denominators used are the same as
those detailed above for basic and diluted
loss per share.

The computation of diluted loss per share
does not assume the exercise of the

Company’s outstanding warrants and 1TEZER

share options since their assumed exercise
would result in a decrease in loss per share.

WD o

BREBEHIRZTEIL AR

32
X BX

Az BRENFSEREARBEFRE
FHEMERE o

RRNFBITHE
I2RBREERBREZTE  RRBRE
RiEERBRESSI HEBRER
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13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing
Rules and CO, is as follows:

13.EE - THRAIBRSEEEAER
2=

(o) EBRITHARZHME

REEREHRAR 2B RGIKE 2
FEEERTHRARZMEWT

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
ek BHRER
He Ht Rz HE e fam
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT FER FEx
2018 —E-N\E
Executive directors (Note )  BIfTEZ (M)
Lai Tak Kwong Andrew BEF (V)

(Note iv) 2 - — 2
Kwan Kin Chung B 120 725 18 863
Yuen Kin (Note v) miE () 70 381 10 461
Chen Man Lung (Note vi) B SCEE (FtEE vi) 120 642 19 781
Tang U Fai (Note vii) BPF 18 (FY T vil) 47 131 - 178
Chow Lai Wah Livia BB 120 366 18 504
Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth  B% 120 180 6 306
Independent non-executive  BUEHITES

directors (Note ii) (P&E )

Joseph Lee Chennault BR S48 (& i)

(Note viil) 94 - — 94
Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERE (Mt ix)

(Note ix) 240 - - 240
Lai Qiang Pt 120 - - 120
Ng Ying RR 120 - - 120
Total Fake) 1,173 2,425 71 3,669
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13. 5 THARBREEEEAR
2= (48)

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief () EERITHARZME ()

executive’s emoluments

(Continued)
Retfirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
ek RKEF
we HibFlR AR ag
HK$'000 HKS$"000 HKS$’000 HK$'000
TAT TER TET FERT
2017 “B-tF
Non-executive director FRTES (M)

(Note iii)

Chu Bong Foo (Note x) RBE (M) — 400 — 400
Executive directors (Note )  #TEZ(FizE)
Lai Tak Kwong Andrew REF (Heiv)

(Note iv) 120 1,445 15 1,580
Kwan Kin Chung B 120 725 18 863
Chen Man Lung (Note vi) PR SCEE (Mt vi) 120 660 18 798
Chung Billy (Note xi) B (M) 57 632 6 695
Tang U Fai (Note vii) B8 (Ff 2t vil) 120 303 - 423
Chow Lai Wah Livia BABE 120 276 18 414
Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth  HAR 120 183 6 309
Independent non-executive  BUEHTEE

directors (Note i) (Brxii)

Joseph Lee Chennault B 32 48 (PR vili)

(Note viii) 240 — — 240
Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERE (M ix)

(Note ix) 240 - - 240
Lai Qiang bty 120 - - 120
Ng Ying RE 120 - - 120
Total ok 1,497 4,624 81 6,202
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13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

D

if)

i)

iv)

2

vi)

vii)

vii)

ix)

x)

Xi)
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The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services in
connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services as directors of the Company.

The non-executive director’s emoluments
shown above were mainly for his services
as the director of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

Mr. Lai Tak Kwong Andrew, who was
appointed on 2 April 2014, is also the chief
executive officer of the Company and
his emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the
chief executive officer. He resigned as the
executive director of the Company on 8
April 2017.

Mr. Yuen Kin was appointfed as fthe
executive director on 14 September 2017.

Mr. Chen Man Lung was resigned as the
executive director on 16 April 2018.

Mr. Tang U Fai retired as the executive
director on 22 August 2017.

Mr. Joseph Lee Chennault retired as the
independent non-executive director on 22
August 2017.

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew was appointed
as the independent non-executive director
on 22 April 2015.

Mr. Chu Bong Foo resigned as the non-
executive director of the Company on 29
December 2016.

Mr. Chung Billy refired as the executive
director of the Company on 20 September
2016.

B EE

it

ity

iv)

V)

Vi)

vii)

viii)

ix)

X)

Xi)

13.EE - THRIERSEEEAER
2B (%)

(o) EERITHAR M= (E)

EXRAIBTEScHMENERRBESR
BERAAARAEEASHE 2 RE 2 ME -

EXFIBLFATESZME D EER
REEERDRAESARERE 2ME -

EXRPIFBTESZMENETERRS
BEERQXIHAEMBARNESARERE
ZHE -

HREXEER-Z-NFEFNA-_RAEZ
£ HNRBADETHRAR - AR EXXAHR
BRENMNESBREEFERITRARMEMRR
BHME - FR-ZF-LFNANBERE
RARMITES -

RBAER-Z-—LFNATHREZE
RYTES -

BYEAER=ZZE—N\FENA+BEE
PITES -
BFELENR-_ZT—LtFENA=Z+=-HE
EHITES -

BRUBEEER-_T—tFNAZ+=-AE
EBILFHMITES ©

BHRELAEN-_SE-AENA=-+=-AE
ZEABILFEHITES -

KBERER=ZZE—R"E+=ZA=1+hHE
BEAQTEHITES -

BEEELER-ZE-RNFARZTHRE
RARMITES -
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13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 13.5E5 - THARNSEEEAER

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 2 <€ (48)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief () EERTHAR S (E)
executive’s emoluments
(Continued)
During the year, no emoluments were FR AEBYBEOESZHIHMEHE
paid by the Group to the directors AMBIRASBEREMALRERR
as a discretionary bonus or an RMARZ BB B 2 fE -

inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as a compensation for loss of

office.
There was no arrangement under BIEBE N E S R E DG E N E A
which a director had waived or EZ2ZHE

agreed to waive any remuneration.

(b) Employee’s emoluments (b) EEZME
Of the five individuals with the AEBEERSHFALTH=ZR(ZE
highest emoluments in the Group, —tF: MmR)AEKQARNEERTHE
three (2017: four) were directors and B BEZMEES R EXXKE 13(0) R
chief executive of the Company WE - HEMB(ZE—LtE: —F)
whose emoluments are included in ATZMEmT :

the disclosure in Note 13(a) above.
Emoluments of the remaining two
(2017: one) individuals was as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E2—+F

HK$°000 HK$"000

FTER FET

Salaries and other benefits FeRkHMmRE 1,220 769
Retirement benefit scheme BRAERFH B

contributions 38 14

1,258 783
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BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

a

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 13. 55 - THHRIRSEEEASR

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S ZWE (4E)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Employee’s emoluments (b) EEZEE (&)
(Continued)
Their emoluments were within the HEZMENTRAUTAER :

following bands:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Number of Number of
employee employee
EEAH EEAH

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 % 7T 2 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

14. 9%~ BERRE

EQUIPMENT
Vehicles,
Leasehold  furniture and
improvements equipment Total
HENE RE - KR
& SET ] ag
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T TiEx TiEx
COsT A&
At 1 April 2016 RZE-AEMA-H 9,695 29,822 39,517
Additions RE — 148 148
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 28) B A F (3 26) (3.612) (8,557) (12,169)
Exchange realignment ExHE ) (347) (353)
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tF=p=1-H 6,077 21,066 27,143
Additions HE 475 842 1,317
Written off s (766) (4,673) (6,439
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 28) HEMBL R (i 28) - (503) (503)
Exchange realignment EXHE 243 466 709
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E=R=t+-H 6,029 17,198 23,227
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT RERRE
At 1 April 2016 RZE-AEMA-H 7,424 23,147 30,571
Provided for the year REERRE 118 1,637 1,755
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 28) s it EME 2 7 (Fit3E 28) (3.612) (8,222) (11,834)
Impairment loss HEFE 1,692 2,777 4,469
Exchange realignment ExHz 70 83 153
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tF=p=1-H 5,692 19,422 25,114
Provided for the year rEERE 186 1,558 1,744
Written off s (766) (3,894) (4,660)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 28) (g5 H EHIE 2 7 (Hiz 28) - (464) (464)
Exchange realignment EXHZ 244 444 688
At 31 March 2018 WZE-N¥=f=1-H 5,356 17,066 22,422
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2018 R-E2-NE=R=1-H 673 132 805
At 31 March 2017 WIE-tE=f=1-H 385 1,644 2,029
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R e MR RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Confinued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Leasehold Shorter of the lease
improvements term or 10%
Vehicles, furniture 15% to 20%

and equipment

During the year ended 31 March 2017,
due to negative financial performance
affected by adverse effects of its specified
market environment in which the digital
cinema operates, including the enfrance
of a market competitor and deterioration
of the overall PRC box-office receipt
industry, the Directors conducted a
review on the recoverable amounts of
the property, plant and equipment of the
digital cinema used for providing cinema-
going services (the "Relevant Fixed Assets”)
under online and social segment.
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14. 9% ~ BB K& (E)

BES MG IEAFRRAESEEUT
FRIETE MR

HEMEERZ HEA 10% (U&=
ERE)
AE - RMRRE 15%E20%

RBE-Z-—tHF=ZA=t—-HLFE &
RARFAHBELREEREREMHRE
THAZE(BETSRFHFMARPEE
BERRATEEZ)MER G E BB R
B HESHRARERLRHEIEB IR
HEZGERBENBIBELRDE  BERR
BIHEAREEE DN ATRESHETE
RS o
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14.

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Contfinued)

The recoverable amounts of the Relevant
Fixed Assetfs have been determined on
the basis of their value in use which
was determined based on the present
value of the estimated future cash
flows expected to be generated by
the Relevant Fixed Assetfs. The value in
use calculations which use cash flows
projection have been revised and the
Directors determined fthat the Relevant
Fixed Assets shall be fully impaired as
the recoverable amount of the Relevant
Fixed Assets is negligible. Accordingly, an
impairment loss of HK$4,469,000 (2018: Nil)
has been recognised in the profit or loss
of which (i) HKS$1,692,000 (2018: Nil) was
related to leasehold improvement and
(i) HKS$2,777,000 (2018: Nil) was related to
furniture and equipment with reference to
the respective carrying amount of these
assets before impairment for the year
ended 31 March 2017.

14.

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

M~ BEK&RE(E)

HEEEEENATRESEDEREFERE
BEE MEAEENENREEEEEER
HEEENETRRESRENBEEE -
FARSRERIFTEZFERERBRZER
EERA HBEETEEC2IRE ' BRE
BB EEEN T E S50 288 T5t o
At KBEZEEENEBE-_Z—t&F=
B=+—BLFEREAMVEHEKDSEE
B (B B 184,469,000 T(=Z & — N\ F:

EIERIBREER > HAR(30)1,692,000% T
(ZZ2-—N\F B )EBEVELBERERK
(i)2,777,000 B T (=F— N\ F : ) E{KFA
REEEE -

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. REEE R T 2 ==
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+1F
HK$°000 HK$"000
FER FHET

Cost of investments in an unlisted RIELTHEQNRNREER

associate 1,476 160
Share of post-acquisition losses EEWEREE (333) —
1,143 160
Less: accumulated impairment loss R BFHREEE - (160)

1,143 —
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z-N\F=ZA=1t—HLFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. REE & N 2 = (5B
(Continued) '
Particulars of the Group’s associate as at R-ZE-N\F=ZA=+—HAKEEEZ QT
31 March 2018 are as follows: ZEMERNT

Proportion of

nominal value
Form of Place of of issued share
Name of business incorporation/ Class of capital held

associates structure operation shares held by the Group  Principal activities
HALKE
BREZERA

BENTER EBRREL SRMAY EERE FERAER REAEERA TEEH

%

Culturecom Media  Incorporated Hong Kong/ Ordinary 18%  Production of digital
& Entertainment A& Hong Kong LER (2017:Nil) ~ content and
Limited ("CMEL") 5B/ BA (Note ) entertainment

YEEFRER 18%  services
BRAF(CMEL]) (ZE2-t5 8/) 4L£EHBAA

(MEED)  RIRERH

Chinese 2 Linux Incorporated British Virgin Island ~ Ordinary Nil  Development of
(Holdings) Limited  ZE A ("BVI")/ LER (2017: 41%)  Chinese language
"caL Hong Kong (Note ii) computer

KBELES &  operatfing system
(ABEZ#E]) (ZB-t5:41%) HEIERRERS
Ve (Katii)

Note i: Under the Agreement (as defined and detailed Mixi: REZBERTIXEZERS®M) ~AEEE
below), the Group has the power to appoint BEZAECMELERESETME - XA AE
two out of the five directors of CMEL. In the BERE ZFEIE"CMELWEE?( 2Pl
opinion of the directors of the Company, the EEtE s EAAREERE AR

Group has significant influence over CMEL
and it is therefore classified as an associate of

the Group.
i During the year ended 31 March 2018, the i: RBZ-Z-N\F=A=+—HLFE R
41% equity interest in C2L was fully written off C2LZ 4% RFEC R SK B B E M -

by the Group.
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15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

(Continued)

In January 2017, Citicomics Limited
("Citicomics”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group, and an
independent third party, a Hong Kong
incorporated company, entered info a
shareholder agreement (the “Agreement”)
relating to investment in CMEL, which is
a company newly incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability. Pursuant to
the Agreement, the independent third
party is agreed fo subscribe 82% equity
interest in CMEL for a cash consideration
of HKS$8,200,000 and Citicomics is agreed
to subscribe 18% equity interest in
CMEL through licencing certain comics
titles and granting the corresponding
intellectual property rights to CMEL. After
the completion of capital injections by
Citicomics and the independent third
party during the year ended 31 March
2018, a gain on conftribution to CMEL
amounting to approximately HKS1,476,000
was recognised in profit or loss. CMEL is
principally engaged in the production of
digital content and entertainment services
in Hong Kong.

15.
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RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

REE ARz ()

RZZB—tFE—A TEEHFZEHEWE
AREBEXBRAR(EEXLNE—F
BUE=A(—EREBIMRILNDT)F
RERCMEL(—EREBHEIMRINE
BRABNDIIBRRGZER(ZBE]D - RIBEZ
W& BAFE=FREZEURESLES8,200,00
B TR CMELK 82% B » mBE LR
BEEBOCMELEREE TEERERERBL
EERE RBCMELKW18%BE - REZE=
E-NE=F=+—HLEE  TEEXt
RZBBIE=FREHEE%R  FECMEL
2 W 1,476,0008 TERIBE PR ©
CMELEEREBRBEBRADRER R
BR % o



148

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e MR RN
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ﬁz

=4 —

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

E-N\F=ZA=+—HLEE

16. B EE

Club Development
memberships cost Total
EEE BB B A e
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTAT FAET FAET
(Note a) (Note b)
(MEEa) (MiEEDb)
COSsT %N
At 1 April 2016 R-ZBE-AREMAB—H 1,385 4,394 5,779
Written off i 85 — (4,394) (4,394)
At 31 March 2017 and 2018 RIE—t&ER
—E-NFE=ZA=+-—H 1,385 — 1,385
AMORTISATION 1 8%
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—-X"FEMB—H — 4,394 4,394
Elimination of written off i85 = 85 — (4,394) (4,394)
At 31 March 2017 and 2018 R-B—tER=ZE-N\E
=B=+-H — - -
CARRYING VALUES REFEE
At 31 March 2017 and 2018 R-ZE—tER-ZF-NF
=A=+—H 1,385 — 1,385
Notes: Mz :
(o) Club memberships are life corporate club (@) EFSELEBEMzAELAREREE - AR

(©)

memberships in recreational clubs. As the club
memberships are considered by the Directors as
having an indefinite useful life, the memberships
are not amortised until their useful lives are
determined to be finite. After considering the
prices quoted in the second hand market, no
impairment of the club memberships is made
during both years.

Being development cost of mobile phone game
applications, which was able to demonstrate the
ability to generate probable future economic
benefits fo the Group and was amortised on
straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives of 1.5 years. Considering the development
cost is fully amortised and not in use, it is written
off during prior year.
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EFERENESRAAERVIEATY WS
BEEHERAFRESERA TS REE - TR
FHERBERRLBERRAEMBEFEL SN
SRETHE

(o) FHEBERHEEBERERUEARERGR
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oM UERAFERISF UMY c ERNER
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17. FILM RIGHT AND FILM

PRODUCTION IN PROGRESS

Film production in progress of Nil (2017:
HK$1,736,000) represented film right in
production which are wholly owned by
the Group. Due to unsatisfactory quality
of the film and no concrete plan for film
distribution or other licensing arrangement,
the Directors have fully written off the film
production in progress. During the year
ended 31 March 2018, an impairment loss
of HK$1,736,000 has been recognised in the
profit or loss.

Film right of HK$1,620,000 (2017:
HK$29,864,000) represented interest in
film right jointly conftrolled by the Group
and by an independent third party in the
PRC. During the current year, the Group
recognised amortisation of HK$29,405,000
(2017: Nil) on the completion of film’s
theatrical release in the PRC (included in
cost of sales). Due to unsatisfactory result
of its box office and the uncertain future
return of the film, the Directors conducted
a review on the recoverable amounts of
the film right. The recoverable amounts
of the film right as at 31 March 2018
have been determined on the basis of
their value in use which was determined
based on the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to
be generated by the film right. During the
year ended 31 March 2018, an impairment
loss of HK$1,647,000 (2017: Nil) has been
recognised in the profit or loss.

17.
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BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

EXMERREPES

RFPFELHRERR(ZFE - L F:
1,736,000 8 T) EASEEZEHR 2 RIE
hEXRE HRZREFCEEXNERETE
ENRTZEEBRHRNEMEEZSE &
ESCXREMEZREFER - REEZ
ZE-NFEZA=t-HLFE BEFE
1,736,000 8 tE REBHEPHER °

E 2 hR 1,620,000 T(ZF — £ F:
29,864,000 ) IEAEBEFAEBLE=
FHEZESNWREZIRE 2R - RAF
B AEBRETBEERESERBITER
RE 520,405,000 T (=2 —tF : &)
(BREHERTA) BREEXERZ
EYNARZTRELR  ESHZEY
2 RESBETHRS -RZE—N\F=
B=+t—H ZEZHREZTHRESECDIER
HERAEBEEEMEE  HEREBEIEZ
EYMEERSELE AT RARRERE
BEMEE REBEZ-ZT-—N\F=A=+-—
HIEEE B{EFIE1,647,0008T(=ZF
—t & BE)CREBZPER -
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BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

18.

19.

INVENTORIES 18. €
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Premium wines BEHE 37,809 56,761
Others Hity 739 780
38,548 57,541

During the year ended 31 March 2018,
an allowance of HK$397,000 (2017: Nil) of
inventories was recognised because the
costs of certain inventories were higher
than their NRV.

At the end of both reporting periods,
premium wines held by the Group were
with selling price higher than the carry
amount.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

RNEBE=-E-NEFE=ZA=+—-BLEE"
BREEEEI97,0008 T (=T —+tF:
&) RRAETHREZRASHAEE 2T
BIRFE o

RBEHREHR  BEEEEAKEREE
BEERNREENEEES -

19. EIRE Z R

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$°000 HK$"000

FER FERT

Trade receivables W E Z BRI 24,216 3,753
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B RIREBE (1,049) (628)
23,167 3,125

The Group allows the general credit period
ranging from 0 to 90 days to customers
of publishing and intellectual properties
licensing and retailing and wholesales
segments.
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The following is the aged analysis of trade
receivables net of allowance for doubtful
debts presented based on invoice date
at the end of reporting period, which
approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates.

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

19. BIE Z AR (&)

LT AR E AR 2R R R BE 2B
WEZERREXRZAM(HEAZ B RAER
AHAAEE) 2 BRER D 4 o

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$’000 HKS$"000

THERT FHET

0 — 60 days 0 — 60K 22,203 1,688
61 — 90 days 61 — 90X 224 318
91 — 180 days 91 — 180X 670 752
Over 180 days HiE 180K 70 467
23,167 3,125

Ageing analysis of trade receivables,
based on the due dates, that are neither

RI|BEBH  TERERREERAD/ETH
BHE2RKEZRFREB A 2Rk D a0

individually nor collectively considered to T
be impaired as at the reporting date is as
follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$"000
FER FHET

Past due but not impaired 2B EBERRE
0 — 60 days 0— 60X 857 809
61 — 90 days 61 — 90Xk 43 —
91 — 180 days 91 — 180X 66 752
Over 180 days BB 180Kk 52 467
1,018 2,028
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BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Trade receivables that were not yet past
due relate to a number of customers
for whom there was no recent history of
default. Trade receivables that were past
due but not impaired related to a number
of independent customers that have good
relationship with the Group.

Trade receivables that were past due
over 180 days but not impaired related to
nine (2017: nine) different customers and
amounting to approximately HK$52,000
(2017: HKS467,000) as at 31 March 2018.
These customers have long business
relationship with the Group and have
seffled the overdue balance according
to the repayment agreements, with the
whole amount tfo be setftled within 2018
(2017: 2017), signed with the Group. With
the exception of the above, and based
on past experience, the Directors believes
that no additional impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are sfill
considered fully recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these
balances.
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19. BINE 5 R ()

TMABHNEREZRAEBR —LREEN
B X THENEF - EBRERRENER
ESRFAEBR - LEASEREARIFER
WBILEF o

R=ZE-NE=ZA=+—H8  BHEE 180
AEXRBENERESERAEALR(ZS
—tHF:AB)TEAEFERE 28EAOA
52,0008 (=2 —+t 4 : 467,00087T) °
ZEEFHEASBEERBELERZ  XER
BHEASERI2ERMRELEERHE
MEFREER T -—NF(ZE2—1tF:
“TE—tEtHF)RFULE R LA E
SN RBURER  ESHETIEAREL
BMEREINRERE  REEEZREBEEARE
SRANARBERTEZHWE - NEFILE
BE LSRN EAIKER °
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. BINE Z R (&)
(Continued)
Impairment losses in respect of trade EWE SRR HEREBUBMERGCE &
receivables are recorded using an HAEEERZRE2TKREHEMY » BE
allowance account unless the Group is BERERE S RAMERERSE - RIEBE
satisfied that recovery of the amount is EEWNT :

remote, in which case the impairment loss
is written off against frade receivables
directly. Movements in the allowance for
doubftful debts are as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FExT
At beginning of the year REL]) 628 1,044
Allowance for doubtful debts RERBE 421 57
Written off i 85 —_ (473)
At end of the year REHL 1,049 628
At the end of the reporting date, the AEEREREBHARFILRKE S ERFP
Group assesses whether objective REBEERBETENMSBERZER
evidence of impairment exists individually BEZRAEN(RENMSETRERENE
for tfrade receivables that are individually ARl HRME AEEFEETG
significant, and individually or collectively FERBBHBEUCERE SRR ZEE -
for trade receivables that are not R-FB-—NF=ZA=+—0 REEEEE
individually significant. The Group also X mMEECHEIEZERNREREKES
assesses collectively for trade receivables BRFNAAEREE 1,049,000 B T(ZE— £ & :
with similar credit risk characteristics for 628,000 7T) - AEBILEEFE L EEE
impairment. As at 31 March 2018, included WK R @ o
in the allowance for doubtful debts are
individually impaired tfrade receivables with
an aggregate balance of HKS$1,049,000
(2017: HK$628,000) which have delayed
payments with poor settlement record. The
Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.
Trade receivables are interest-free and EWEZERARE B REIKT

unsecured.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS

20. Hb B - RERFBANARIER

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Other receivables (net of allowance H B FIE (HIBR R IR
for doubtful debt) BE) 5,583 4,275
Deposits and prepayments RERBNIE 2,793 5,290
Total other receivables, deposits HibhEWRIE - #1ERk
and prepayments A RIBARRE 8,376 9,565
Less: Amounts that will be settled W BR—FREEDS
or utilised within one year B A2 A (7,821) (5,769)
Amount that will be utilised for more R —F&EH2HE
than one year 555 3,796
Movement in the allowance HttBEWRZRRBEZ2EH
for doubtful debts on other
receivables
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
At beginning of the year REF]) 835 4,832
Impairment losses recognised on BEMERRER 2
other receivables REEE — 835
Amounts written off as uncollectible  FE & AU E M < £ 48 — (4,832)
At end of the year RER 835 835
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS (Confinued)

Movement in the allowance
for doubtful debts on other
receivables (Continued)

Included in the allowance for doubftful
debts on other receivables are individually
impaired other receivables due from
non-trade debtors with an aggregate
balance of HK$835,000 (2017: HKS$835,000).
The Directors determined that the
recoverability of these receivables was
remote since the amount has not been
settled in accordance with the repayment
terms and hence full impairment loss had
been recognised.

During the year ended 31 March
2017, impairment losses amounting
to HK$7,571,000 on deposits paid for
development of online social platform had
been recognised in profit or loss, as in the
opinion of the Directors, these amounts
were not expected to be recovered due
to default in payments on the refund
of deposit as a result of failure on the
development of the platform by the
service provider. Reversal of impairment
loss of HK$1,021,000 on deposits was
recognised in profit or loss upon recovery
of the amount during the year ended 31
March 2018.

20.
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BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

E(%J?ELI&%X s RERFBENRE
&)

HBWRZRIRBRE 2SS (F)

HttEWR 2 RRBRBEERUEFES G
A 2 B B © R 1B HL i Uk 3R 48 4% 85 835,000
BT(ZZ—+1F:8350008T) EHHE

REWRBBEBEGAIEE - Bt - EXEH
2o m EETE ©

BE-Z—tHE=ZA=+—-HLEE &
HEELHERFEIFzREZBERE
7.571,000 8 tERNIE=ER  RERES
RE BRBREHES2EETEBETK
ESIBIERZIRENERMBBRELKE
EESE - RLREFIERE1,021,000
TEREBE-Z-N\F=ZA=+—HILEE
WEIFIEE A IB R TER ©
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BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

21. HELD FOR TRADING 21. BEEERE
INVESTMENTS »
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Listed equity shares, at fair value: EHRARRKRS  BAFEE:
Hong Kong b 2,765 2,397
Overseas ST 4,315 4,243
7,080 6,640
The fair values of the listed equity shares tHREABRO 2 A FEEDNRERERES
are determined based on the quoted REMARBzTERREANBERE -
market bid prices available on the relevant
stock exchanges.
22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22. RITHEERESE
Bank balances carrying interest at market RITHEFEMHFEFNENF0.001%ZE 1.0%
rate ranges from of 0.001% to 1.0% (2017: (ZZ2—tF : AN F0.001%ZE1.0%)5TE °

from 0.001% to 1.0%) per annum.
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BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

23. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER 23. ENESRA - HttENSRKRE
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED HE-di:
CHARGES

UTARBERERZERAH25 2 BN
BE R Z IR DA

The following is an aged analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period.

2018 2017

—ZE2-N\F —E—+tF

HK$°000 HK$'000

TER FET

0 — 60 days 0— 60X 406 287
61 — 90 days 61 — 90X = —
Over 90 days iBiE 90 X 31 31
437 318

The average credit period on purchases
of goods ranges from 30 to 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit
timeframe.

Other payables and accrued charges
mainly represent the payable balance of
expenses for the years ended 31 March
2018 and 2017 and cost incurred for online
platform maintenance for the year ended
31 March 2017.

BEERZFHEEHRNFI0OHEIH -
AEECHEM B RAREEBER - UBREHR
BRNFRENEERBERANTULEE -

REBEZ-Z—N\ER-ZE—tF=ZA=1+—
BLEFE  HttESRREGFEATEAR
EAREGTFEHEENREBZE_ZT—+tH=A
=St+—HLEFEMEE 2RI 2 EFLEE -
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24. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on
temporary differences under the liability
method using the applicable tax rates
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates. Movements of deferred
tax liability of the Group during the year
are as follows:

24.

EIER IR & B

FERED LTS EEREE B ARAEE
CEHER AR BT EARESE - &
EEYETHESENERNZSEBMT :

Accelerated

tax

depreciation

MEBETE

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April 2016 R-ZEBE—ARFENEBE—H 784
Credit to profit or loss for the year FFAFEER (72)
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+HF=A=+—H 712
Credit to profit or loss for the year FFAFEER (14)
At 31 March 2018 RZE—-NF=ZA=+—H 698

At 31 March 2018, the Group estimated
unused tax losses of approximately
HK$912,308,000 (2017: HK$861,805,000)
available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.
The estimated tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.
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RZB-NF=ZA=Z+—H  XEETA
AU ERFORR 2 G5 RB BB IEES
B XN A/912,308,0008 t(=F — £ F:
861,805,000 7T ) ° H A A T8I R s
FRE  ASEZEERERDIELED R
BE - A REBETERBEE -
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. g7
Number of Share
shares capital
igrip - 4=| IR 7
‘000 HKS$"000
T FHET

Ordinary shares of HKS 0.01 each FREECO B T2EER

Authorised EIE
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 and RZE—ARFNA—H =
31 March 2018 E—+t+tF=B=+—HK

—E-N\$=ZHF=+—H8 200,000,000 2,000,000

Number of shares Share capital
B EE [
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F 22—+t ZEBE-N\F ZE2—LH
000 ‘000 HK$°000 HK$’000
i i FET THT
Issued and fully paid: BRITRHAE
At beginning of the year  REH] 1,390,657 1,214,159 13,907 12,142
Exercise of warrant TRERARERAEE

subscription rights (BFzE26)

(Note 26) - 146,750 — 1,468
Exercise of share options  1T{EIEIRFE (HizE27)

(Note 27) — 29,748 — 297
At end of the year REF# 1,390,657 1,390,657 13,907 13,907
During the year ended 31 March 2017, the REBE-Z-—tHF=B=+—HLFE #¥
new shares subscribed by exercising the TTERR IR AR A8 % B IR AR T SR B 2 ST AR 4 TR P
warrants and share options rank pari passu BRESECBRITROEZERSES -

in all respects with the issued shares.
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26. WARRANTS

2017 Warrants

On 20 July 2012, the Company entered
info a warrant subscription agreement
in relation to the private placing of
up to 76,790,000 warrants (the "2017
Warrants”), with subscription price of
HK$0.10, conferring rights to subscribe up
to 76,790,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company at an exercise price of HKS$1.20
per share, to not less than 6 warrant
subscribers who are independent individual
and/or corporate investor, which are
exercisable during the 5 years period from
2 August 2012 to 1 August 2017, both days
inclusive. The 2017 Warrants are classified
as equity instruments. The placement is
completed on 2 August 2012,

The proceeds from the warrant subscription
of approximately HKS$7,492,000, net of
expenses incurred on warrants issue
amounting HK$187,000, were used as
general working capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2017,
registered holders of 12,080,000 units of
the 2017 Warrants exercised their right
tfo subscribe for 12,080,000 shares in the
Company at an exercise price of HKS$1.20
per share. As at 31 March 2017, the
Company had outstanding 44,710,000
units of the 2017 Warrants. Since all the
remaining 2017 Warrants were expired
during the year ended 31 March 2018,
the Company had no outstanding 2017
Warrants as at 31 March 2018.
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26. RBRHEE
—E-tERRER

RZZE—-FtA=+H  XQAFTILRR
BERBEHZR  AREBEOTIROBETAH
BUE=FK HEEREERBEZR
BATABER 76,790,000 2 I &
ZZ2—tFRAREF]DREEAR0.10E
) MEEMITE-Z-——FN A=A
ECE—+EN\A-HALE(BREERMA)R
FHEANRERITEEI20BIRBERS
76,790,000 R K A A FHEBKR - —F—+t
FRABREZCIHAERAIAR - RZF—Z-F
NBZHREARBE °

RBRREE 2 TEFIRA 7,492,000 T
(MR EERITESE ZF X 187,000
) DREARRZ-—REEES -

NEBE=ZE—+tE=ZRA=+—HLEE"
12,080,000 =2 —t ERREF 2 &L
BEATEREZ2EFZRITFEESR.20
B TR A D T 12,080,000 % R4 o R =
Z—t+tF=A=+—H XQATARETFEZ
—E-+FRREFEHL4,710,0001 © B
RIBERT - tFRREFIENREZ
—ZE-N\F=A=+—HILFEREM  ®RK
AR ZE-NE=ZB=+—HUEERET
Fe—ZT—tERREE -



26. WARRANTS (Continued)

2016 Warrants

On 30 July 2014, the Company entered into
a placing agreement with an independent
placing agent in relation to the private
placing of up to 157,500,000 warrants (the
"2016 Warrants”), with subscription price
of HKS$0.16, conferring rights to subscribe
for up to 157,500,000 new ordinary shares
of the Company at an exercise price of
HK$0.75 per share, to not less than 300
placees who are independent third parties,
which are exercisable during the two years
from 22 September 2014 to 21 September
2016 (or the next business day after 21
September 2016 if 21 September 2016 is
not a business day), both days inclusive.
The placing of the 2016 Warrants was
completed on 19 September 2014 and was
classified as equity instruments.

The proceeds from the placing of
approximately HKS$23,821,000, net of
expenses incurred on warrants issue
amounting HK$1,379,000, were used as
general working capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2017,
registered holders of 134,670,000 units of
the 2016 Warrants exercised their right
to subscribe for 134,670,000 shares in the
Company at an exercise price of HKS0.75
per share. Since all the remaining 2016
Warrants were expired during the year
ended 31 March 2017, the Company had
no outstanding 2016 Warrants as at 31
March 2018 and 2017.

T 2017-2018 X{LEEE

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

26. AR REE (1)
—E-RERARESE

RZZE-NELA=1+H  AQAFE—-FH
VERERBITVESEHE  AXREBURE
BO.16BTERPRIVBEEABIE=H
Z A AFAABE &% 157,500,000 17 52 B
EE(ZE— R ERREE]) > MEERT
B-Z-WFAB-+-HARBRZE-Z—~F
ABZ+—BEHM=ZE—~"FRAZ=+—
BIFk&EHXA AT —RFLA=-T—
BT —E£%0) H(BEFEEMA)W
FHEARSRTEEC/ISEIRERS
157,500,000 R AA AR HFHERBR - WE=-F

—AERBREFAR-_Z—NFAATILAR
o WESAERAIA -

ZEEEIR Z TSI 23,821,000 T
(MBRFARERRITESE 2B X 1,379,000
BT DREARAzZ —REEEST -

134,670 OOOTﬁ /\$ E\HE*EMZ%QE
BEATERSE ZEﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁiwom
B TR B AR T 134,670,000 R B 15 © mv
FEBT - "ERREZHEREE
E—tE=A=+—HLFER® ﬁ$®
ARZE-NER-_ZE—+tHF=A=+—H
WEAETEZ ST "FRREE
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant fo an ordinary resolution passed
on 21 August 2002, the Company adopted
a share option scheme (the "2002
Scheme”). The life of the 2002 Scheme
is effective for 10 years from the date of
adoption until 20 August 2012. The 2002
Scheme has been expired. Subsequent
to the expiration of the 2002 Scheme,
no further share options can be granted
thereunder but in all other respects, the
provisions of the 2002 Scheme shall remain
in force and all share options granted
prior to such expiration shall continue fo
be valid and exercisable in accordance
therewith.

Pursuant tfo an ordinary resolution passed
on 12 August 2013, the Company adopted
a new share option scheme (the "2013
Scheme”). The life of the 2013 Scheme
is effective for 10 years from the date of
adoption until 11 August 2023.

Major terms for the 2002 Scheme and
the 2013 Scheme (the “Share Opftion
Schemes”) are summarised as follows:

() The purpose is to provide incentives
to:

J award the participants who have
made contributions to the Group
and/or any entity in which the
Group holds any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”); and

J recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and atftract human
resources that are valuable to the
Group.
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27. lB IR fEET

RER-_ZZ_FN\A-+-—HBEBZE
BREBR  ARARMNBERESE-Z2Z
—FFE] —EE-FHEZERB AT
F BERMBEHE BEE-ZT—-—-FN\A
“t+HREk- —EE_FiEEEMm - R=F
Z_FHERERE TUBLE-—SREE
i BRFEEMAEE ST _F5t8
ZHRXMEEN > MRERAFTEHEZRE
BRESEEEU R ATIELTE -

RER-ZZE—=ZFN\AT-HRBZ2EBR
BRE AR ARMFBRESE(=Z2—=
FEE]D e —E—=ZFFHE2EXRHAT
F BEMNBHE BEE-ZFE=-_=N1\A
+—Hik e

“EECFFIARSE-=ZFHE(BRE
8D 2 EERFBAMMNT

() EMEEBTIALAETRERD:

s RBAXKEER HAKEEE
HEMRAEZz2QR(THRE
QDA DEHERZSEE R

EREERHASKH
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

@i

@iii)

@iv)

The participants include any
employee, director, supplier, agent,
consultant, adviser sftrategist,
conftractor, subcontractor, expert
or customer of the Group and/or
Invested Entity.

The maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted under
the Share Option Schemes must
not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the
date of approval of the Share Option
Schemes, however this limit might be
refreshed by shareholders in a general
meeting. However, total maximum
number of shares of the Company
which might be issued upon exercise
of all outftstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Schemes and
any other share option scheme must
not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted to a
participant, when aggregated with
shares issued and issuable (including
exercised and outstanding share
options and the options cancelled)
under any share option granted to
the same participant under the Share
Option Schemes or any other share
option scheme within any 12 months
period, must not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue from
fime to time.

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

27. B ERTEI (&)

() BHERESEER RHFREDT
SEMES  BEE - HEE RE
BHA FHER - RHE - HHE
W BRRES o

iy REBREFETERE2BRET
RBZARARDEE  BEZTEE
BAXANBRESEIMEREZE
BATIRA10% A1 ZREAHER
RRBRRAELEH - REBRE
SIREMEMBRESEMREEN
RITEZHBERTEBRERTEE
HEBTZARARDAE &S T
SHEBARFATKERTREZ30% °

(iv) TEAZ2HEERHZBERETRE 24X
RARGEBE - BREMT @R HE
AR 15 08 IR 1 5 81 S (B H b BB IR 8
ERZESRERH 2EMBERE
(BRECITERRTEBRERCEE
ZERE)MEBITRATETZRG
RY BRETEBEBEARATKEEH
TRDZ1% °
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

(v) There was no requirement for a
grantee to hold the share option for
a certain period before exercising the
share option save as determined by
the board of directors and provided in
the offer of grant of share option.

27. BT E(&)

(V) RESSEERRBRHBREZZN
BRESN  EAERABARITEBRERN
EiEEHERSERBRE -

(vi) The exercise period should be any (V) THEHEAEEENREBRERE
period fixed by the board of directors EZEMEARE  EREMBERTFE
upon grant of the share option but HEBERFREABESTF -
in any event the share option period
should not go beyond 10 years from
the date of offer for grant.

(vii) The acceptance of a share option, if (vii) AR ABRRE B EIEET 28 B AW

accepted, must be made within 28
days from the date of grant with a
non-refundable payment of HKS1 from

BRR(NES)  BREBERA T
FRHAMIBLZHE  ABRETT

the grantee to the Company.

(viii) The exercise price of a share option (ViD BREZITEBEXEARUTZERE

must be the highest of: 2%

« the closing price of a share of the s RELHBH(EREXH)ZAEAAR
Company on the date of grant AR HE ;
which must be a business day;

* the average closing price of a e EERUHBHASEEXBEZAE

share of the Company for the AEIRGOFEHIRTE S &

5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

e the nominal value of a share of e ARAQT—RIRMEME -
the Company.

(ix) All the share options are vested on the (i) FEBERENREBHYIEERE -
grant date.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 27. B RESTEI(E)
(Continued) ‘
The following table discloses details of the TREZREBREFEAREZAQAABR
Company’s share options granted under BN ERERECZE

the Share Option Schemes and movements
in such holdings:

2018
—E-N\F
Number of share options
BREHE
Balance Balance
as at Granted Lapsed as at Exercise
Category Name of Date 1 April during during 31 March price
participants scheme of grant 2017 theyear  the year 2018  pershare  Exercisable period
RZE-t RZB-N\E
£mA-A ZA=t+-H
SRERH biE £2 REAS &8 ERRY  FRXM &8 SRORE RS
HKS
AT
Directors 2002 Scheme  29.6.2007 5,704,400 — (5,704,400 - 216 29.6.2007 — 28.6.2017
g% SEECEHE 6112007 2,523,100 - (2523,100) - 142 6.11.2007 = 5.11.2017
8,227,500 — (8,227,500 -
Employees 2002 Scheme  29.6.2007 10,476,350 — (10,476,350) - 216 29.6.2007 — 28.6.2017
&g ZEECEHE 601200 3,850,470 — (3,850,470 - 142 6.11.2007 — 5.11.2017
14,326,820 - (14,326,820) -
Others 2002 Scheme  29.6.2007 27,699,250 - (27,699,250) - 216 29.6.2007 — 28.6.2017
2 ZEECEHE 601200 32,339,560 - (32,339,560) - 142 6.11.2007 — 5.11.2017
60,038,810 — (60,038,810 -

Tofal h 82,593,130 —  (82.593,130) -
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

27. RS EI(E)

(Continued)
2017
—E—tF
Number of share options
i L
Bolonce Balonce
0s ot Granted Exercised Lapsed 0s ot Exercise
Category Name of Date 1 April during during during 31 March price
participants  scheme of grant 216 the year the year the year 017 pershare  Exercisable period
N-8-rE HoE-tE
BA-H ZRzt-R
SHERH  HUZR bk 268 i h ERfif EREX 268 SRARE GRS
HKS
B
Directors 2002 Scheme  7.7.2006 2,303,700 - - (2308,700) - 092 7.7.2006 - 6.7.2016
£ CERCERE 2062007 5,704,400 - - - 5,704,400 216 29.6.2007 — 2862017
6.11.2007 2,523,100 - - - 2,623,100 142 611.2007 = 5.11.2017
2013 Scheme  1.122014 5,000,000 - (5000,000) - - 115 1122014 - 30.11.2016
ZE-EhY
15,531,200 - (b000000)  (2308,700) 8,227,500
Employees 2002 Scheme  7.7.2006 329,100 - (329,100) - - 092 7.7.2006—6.7.2016
5 CEECERY 002007 10,476,350 - - - 10476350 216 29.6.2007 — 2862017
6.11.2007 12,286,400 - (843930 - 3,850,470 142 6112007 = 5.11.2007
2013 Scheme 25102013 5,000,000 - - (5000,000) - 139 25102013 — 24.10.2016
“3-zE
28,091,850 - (8765030) (50000000 14326820
QOthers 2002 Scheme  7.7.2006 12,215430 - Q511500)  (9.697.930) - 092 7.7.2006—6.7.2016
H SEECEHE 0962007 27,6920 - - - 26920 216 294007 - 882017
6.11.2007 45,744,900 - (13,405,340) - 32389560 142 611.2007 = 5.11.2017
2013 Scheme  5.11.2013 5,000,000 - - (5000,000) - 142 51.2013 - 4711.2016
ZE-EHE 1020014 22,000,000 - - (22.000,000) - 115 1122014 = 30.11.2016
112,719,580 - (10982840)  (36:697930)  60,038.810
Tofal a3t 166,342,630 - (9747870)  (44001,630) 82,593,130
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Continued)

At 31 March 2017, the number of shares
in respect of which options had been
granted and remained outstanding under
the schemes is 82,593,130 shares (2018: N/
A), representing 5.9% of the issued share
capital of the Company at that date.

In respect of the share options exercised
during the year ended 31 March 2017, the
weighted average share price at the date
of exercise is HKS$1.06.

During the year ended 31 March 2017,
12,001,630 options amounted HK$3,747,000
were lapsed under the 2002 Scheme
and 32,000,000 options amounted
HKS$11,418,000 were lapsed under 2013
Scheme. All options under the 2013
Scheme were lapsed during the year
ended 31 March 2017.

During the year ended 31 March
2018, 82,593,130 options amounted
HK$47,194,000 were lapsed under the 2002
Scheme.

27.
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BRERE(E)

RZZ—tF=ZA=1+—8 ' REFIEK
HRERTEZEBRERSR ZBROBER
82,593,130 R(=ZE—NF: ~EH) M
ERARANZBEZEBRITRAZ59% -

MBE-ZE—tFEZA=Z+—HBLFEEZE
THEEREMS  WTEBHZMEEHR
BR1.06BT -

REBE-ZZE—tF=ZA=1+t—BLEE:
—EE_FFEET £ A3,747,000%
7TZ12,001,630 EREEXAUR-F
—=FFEETEEEA11,418,000% T2
32,000,000 EREE LM —E—=F
FEETZRMEBERECHKREBEZE-_Z—+tHF
=A=t—HILFEEXMK -

REBZE=-ZE—N\F=ZA=Z+—BLFE =
EE_FFEETLEBH47,194,0008 5T
282,503,130 BB IR IET Kk -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
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28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Disposal of Success Dynasty
Limited (“Success Dynasty”) and
its subsidiary

On 18 September 2017, the Group entered
info an agreement to dispose of its
wholly owned subsidiary, Success Dynasty
Limited, and ifs subsidiary (collectively
referred to as the “Success Group”) to
an independent third party, for a cash
consideration of US$250,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,950,000). Success
Dynasty’s principal activity was investment
holding with a subsidiary engaged in
crude oil exploration service business.
The transaction was completed on 18
September 2017, the date which the
control of Success Group has been passed
to the independent third party.
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28. HEMHE LA

4 € Success Dynasty Limited
([Success Dynasty ]) & H K&
A F

RZZE—tFAA+NE XEBIFT L
—EHiFEEEEE 2 EK B 2 A (Success
Dynasty Limited & H Kt B & F(& &
[Success Groupl)) ¥ — B B L % =
FrBeREAE250000EZT(HERY
1,950,000 7t ) ° Success Dynasty 2 E
ZEBRREERRERS —BRERBHR
REEKEHMBAR < RJER=_ZF—+F
AB+NBZERK  Success Group Z =4l
BOEZHBRXFEIE=7 -



28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Disposal of Success Dynasty
Limited (“Success Dynasty”) and
its subsidiary (Continued)

The Group’s shares of net assets of Success
Group at the date of disposal and the
effect of disposal were as follows:
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28. HEKE LR ()

1 €& Success Dynasty Limited
([Success Dynasty 1) & H i B
AR (4E)

REBRNEE B HE(E Success Group 2
EEFERMESE2FERINT ¢

HK$000
FHExT
Consideration receivable: EWRE :
Other receivable (included in other H b U RIS (FF A E MW FIE)
receivables) 1,950
Analysis of assets over which control FBAERFIECEEZDN
was lost:
Property, plant and equipment WE -~ BERKE 39
Bank balances and cash IRITEFRES 1,905
Net assets disposed of HEZEETFE 1,944
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries: HENBARZEE :
Consideration receivable WA E 1,950
Net assets disposed of HECZEEFE (1,944)
Reclassification of exchange loss on BN BEHECELEE
disposal (854)
Loss on disposal HESEBEZER (848)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESEHEEZRESRHFHE .
Bank balances and cash disposed of HEZRITHEEFRES (1,905)

The Success Group conftributed loss of
HK$737,000 (2017: HK$2,689,000) to the
Group during the year ended 31 March
2018. No tax charge or credit arose on loss
on the disposal.

REBE-ZE-N\F=ZA=+—BLEE:
Success Group AR EBEEXEZHBEA
737,000 T(= & — + & : 2,689,000
)  HEFHEBEERITEEETMAHRES
R IER o
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28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Disposal of Culturecom
Technology Limited (“Culturecom
Technology”) and its subsidiaries

On 30 December 2016, the Group entered
infto an agreement to dispose of its
subsidiary, Culturecom Technology, and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Culturecom Technology Group”) to
an independent third party, for a cash
consideration of HK$4,000,000. Culturecom
Technology’'s principal activity was
investment holding while its subsidiaries
were engaged in development of online
social music gaming platform, retailing
or wholesales, or were dormant. These
disposed subsidiaries do not represent
a separate major line of business as
the Group continues to engage in
these businesses affer the disposal.
The transaction was completed on 30
December 2016, the date which the
control of Culturecom Technology Group
has been passed to the independent third

party.
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28. HEMBE AR (&)

Hi €& Culturecom Technology
Limited ([ Culturecom
Technology ) R it B 1 7]

RZB-XRFE+ZA=Z+TH XKEEHF]
3t & 0 LA A% H Kt B A 8 Culturecom
Technologyk HE Mt B A A& W A
[Culturecom Technology &8 ) &F —
EBILE=F BEEA4L000000%
7T o Culturecom Technology 2 X B 7§
RREEZER  MEMBARRSRLUERE
LT AMRE  TEHEMRREEEE -
ARAEENHEREBRSZEER &
ZECHEMNBARLE AR REBNETEE
BiR - ZRFER=_ZF—R"E+=A=+H
SR » Culturecom Technology & B Ry
HIECRZBEERIE=F °



28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Disposal of Culturecom
Technology Limited (“Culturecom
Technology”) and its subsidiaries
(Continued)

The Group’s shares of net assets of
Culturecom Technology Group at the date
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28. HEME AR (&

H £ Culturecom Technology

Limited ([ Culturecom

Technology ) R HHf B A 8] (&)

A EE B H KK B E {hCulturecom
Technology&EBzEEFERHESEZ

of disposal and the effect of disposal were FEWNT :
as follows:
HK$"000
FET
Consideration received: 2 WRRIE :
Cash BE 4,000
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which Bk EZE4IZEER
control was lost: BEZOW:
Property, plant and equipment M- BERRZE 335
Inventories 7E 1,404
Trade receivables B E 5 R 22
Other receivables, deposit and prepayments HEWFE « RE& R BN FUE 4,999
Bank balances and cash RITEERES 3,563
Other payables and accrued charges HihERFRERETER (6,423)
Tax payable FE IR (1,591)
2,309
Non-controlling interests (Note) JEIE AR R (PEE) 11,155
Net assets disposed of HECEEFHE 13,464
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries: HERBARZEE :
Consideration received 2 WRE 4,000
Net assets disposed of HEZEETFE (13,464)
Loss on disposal HEEEZEIER (9,464)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HESHEEEZRESERAFE
Cash received 2WERE 4,000
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of W HEZRTEFRRES (3.563)

437
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28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Disposal of Culturecom
Technology Limited (“Culturecom
Technology”) and its subsidiaries
(Continued)

Note:Immediately before the disposal, the Group
has waived amounts due from Culturecom
Technology Group, which had incurred
significant losses in previous years, with a tfotal
amount of approximately HK$572,820,000,
of which HK$134 million is amount due from
a subsidiary of Culturecom Technology with
non-confrolling interest of approximately
HK$11,155,000.

The Culturecom Technology Group
contributed revenue of HK$1,076,000 to the
Group during the year ended 31 March
2017. No tax charge or credit arose on 10ss
on the disposal.
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4 £ Culturecom Technology
Limited ([ Culturecom
Technology ) R EHf B~ 7] (&)

M 2EHESTEN AEEE 2KRER
Culturecom Technology £EZ 58 » ERiB
AEEEEEAEIE  #EEH%572,820,0008
Jt » E " 134,000,000 % 7T & FE W Culturecom
Technology z —EMB AR ZfIE » HIEER

Culturecom Technology SBREZ =%
—tEF=A=t+—-HLFERFLEETRK
A 1,076,000t - HESHEZEEBEIL&EE
FEABER HBER -



29. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in a MPF Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of trustees.

The Group’s and the employees’
conftributions to the MPF Scheme are each
set at 5% of the employees’ salaries up to
a maximum of HK$1,500 effective from 1
June 2014 per employee per month. The
Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are fully and immediately vested to the
employees once they are paid.

Certain employees of the Group are
members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to
conftribute approximately 15% of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefit. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

Total cost charged to profit or loss of
HK$359,000 (2017: HK$452,000) represents
the contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group during the year.
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29. RIKEFFTE

rEBAMESEREBREEFBRESR
gle B EERXTAEFNZESRE
B RAREECEEIRESR -

H-Z-—NFEAA-—HE AEEKRESD
BEESEFHZHRZTERRAEEFH S
25% BERERAESEEE1.5008 T -
—BE XM BIAKE@RES T EE
HeHREHRDEEBEBNZEES -

FEBZzETREEATERFER 2EARE
BRAEANFERE - AEERRFERA
H15% ERABERFTEELER - UBEEB
BRRMES - RRABRFEMS - A&
oM —SE/ELEEMHRK -

B FH R PR Z KA EE R 359,00078 7T
(ZZ—LF 452,000 8B EXAEEFR
FE L E 5T B AT 2 5K o
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30. OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS AND
COMMITMENTS

30. MEHENRBRARE

The Group as Lessee AEBEAEBEA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —Z2—+F
HK$’000 HKS$000
FTET FET
Minimum lease payments paid FRBBELERNS T2
under operating leases during the =EME
year:
Premises LES 7,698 7,507

At the end of the reporting period,
the Group had commitments for future
minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall
due as follows:

RB|EHKR  ARERETUTRE 2 EEH
WARETIIRRREBELMRK

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$000

FExT FET

Within one year —FR 3,599 3,147
In the second to fifth year inclusive F-_ZREF(BEEEME) 2,590 2,700
6,189 5,847

Operating lease payments represent
rentals payable by the Group for their
office premise. Lease is negotiated for an
average ferm of two to three years and
rentals are fixed for an average of two to
three years.
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31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior
years.

The capital structure of the Group consists
of equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital,
share premium and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.
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3. EXEEE

FEEEERER  URKRAKEETER
EEAEEZSECEEERE  AREB
BILEBREZRET  BARRTRZER
BRAtL  AEEBERBEABTFEER
T& -

FEBZERRBOUERARBDETARLZ
R (BRERTRA - ROEERMERE)

EER¥FEEFNERRER - FHLLERH
28D EBEEEEAMAKREZEER
MHEZER REESBZHEBER  A5E
BERIRYRE - BITHRORBERD U
RBTHEBRELDRBEY  FEHERRE
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RN

32.€@T A

(ST E>ER

instruments
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$000
FE FET
Financial assets cREE
Loans and receivables (including BERREWRFIE (21
cash and cash equivalents) ReRBE2ZEY) 267,143 270,932
Held for trading investments BHEEERE 7,080 6,640
Financial liabilities =R
Liabilities at amortised cost REIEARIERZEE 3,414 3,001

(b) Financial risk management

objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial
instfruments include trade receivables,
other receivables, held for trading
investments, bank balances and
cash and trade and other payables.
Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below.
The Directors manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.
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AEEZIESHIABRERRES
HEHMEWNRE FFEEER
E ROTUERKRRAERENEZFHE
REMENRIE  KEESRMT A2
BRENSEMNZE HEEERTA
FEzRBEEmSAREERAR
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. R T E(48)

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (b) B EREEEERBIEK(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

There has been no significant change
to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company
have foreign currency revenues and
expenses giving rise to receivables,
payables and bank balances which
expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. They are mainly denominated in
United States dollars (*USD”), Macau
Pataca ("MOP"), Japanese Yen
("JPY") and Renminbi ("RMB”). As HKS
is pegged to USD and MOP is pegged
to HKS, the Group does not expect
any significant movements in the USD/
HKS and MOP/HKS exchange rates.
The Group is mainly exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from fransactions
that are denominated in JPY and RMB
relative to HKS. The Directors monitor
foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need
arise.

-

AEBEHS 2T ERABRIEERE
Rz B RILEEREE -

BEXmEbE

B AR B B D B NS W iR e B
X BEESASEMEEINEER 2 -
WFIE - BYREBERRITER HE
BEHERm(ET D B T(RPM
) BETEBEDRAR®BTA
RENDSHE BARBTEITHAK
RPITEB TS REANEEES
Ern/BARBRMT/ BiERTE
HEEMEXREH AEEETEEN
AERARBITEZRZMAZEE
THEEZIERRE  ERERIIER
B YEREFTEFZREFEKXIN
BE L f o
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32.&e@MTRA(E)

(Continued) ®

(b) Financial risk management (b) BEREEBEERBEK(E)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) G E R (E)
Currency risk (Continued) BimEp (&)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s AEBRBSABUIIETTEZER
foreign currency denominated EE(BERRE SRR EMER
monetary assets (including trade and BURBTEERES)REKAE
other receivables and bank balances (BIEHMEMARIE) ZREENT :

and cash) and monetary liabilities
(including other payables) at the
reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
BE =L
2018 2017 2018 2017

—®-NF —T—LF =B-\F =FT-t%
HK$°000 HKS$"000 HK$°000 HK$ 000

FET FHET FHET FHET
RMB AR 25,909 21,827 1,928 1,679
JPY H 3,036 2,864 — —
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. R T E(48)

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (b) IBEMEEEERBEK(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the
RMB and JPY. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2017 5%) increase and decrease
in the entity’s respective functional
currency against its relevant foreign
currencies. 5% (2017: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and
represents the Directors’ assessment
of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2017: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. A negative number below
indicates an increase in loss for the
year where HKS$ strengthen against the
relevant currency. For a 5% (2017: 5%)
weakening of HKS against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the loss for
the year, and the balances negative
below would be positive.

mEEE(E)

FAEBITEERAREKAEEZRE
%o TRAJAEBEARERSBZ
WEREEBREBREINEAEREES
(22—t F 1 5%) 2BRBE - 5% (=
E-tF %R AAETEEERASARL
ERMERABAAZBBREL R I
BESHIICEZRTRAEZH 2
e BRBRES T BEUINETEZE
RFPEEWIERE » ARI|EH RS
WEREEHSN(ZFT—LF :5%)1F
HERAR - THEHXRTERLLE
BNEHEREH 2 FERBESEM-
BT A BRANMERER(ZE—C
F:5%) BEHEFEBRERAER
HRNEE MTIHEBEHRERE
2 o
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

32.

SMIA(E)

(b) BEEBEREEERBEE)

Market risk (Continued) G E R (E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRE 7T (7E)
RMB Impact JPY Impact
ARMEE FEXE®
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F =2+t ZZTB-NF Z—ET—LtF
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Loss affer tax MREIEER (1,001) (841) (127) (120)

In the opinion of the Directors, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk
as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest
rate risk through the impact of
rate changes on intferest bearing
bank balances. The Directors have
considered the Group’s exposure fo
cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances (Note
22) to be limited because the current
market interest rates on general
deposits are relatively low and stable.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. R T E(48)

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (b) IBEMEEEERBEK(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price
risk through its investment in listed
equity securities which are classified
as held for trading investments. The
Directors manage this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk and return profiles
and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date.

If the equity prices had been 15%
higher/lower (2017:. 15%)., post-tax
loss would decrease/increase by
HK$887,000 (2017: HKS$832,000). This is
due to the changes in fair value of the
held for trading investments.

w5 EE ()
A B E b

AEBEHS ETRARBSREMES
ZRAERERAR  HOoBRAEE
BEERE -ESEBEFEBTER
fREORsRELAS  EELERR
WA PAE T B E T E 2 b o

UTHRESHDREBREAH 2R
FEDEREREE o

TR AERZBR LA THKISH(Z
T—+F:15%)  BREEZEBEERD
/12 11887,000 (= & — + & :
832,00087T)  TEHMABEHEEER
BNV EBEEEAE -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying
amount of the respective recognised
financial assetfs, other than the held
for trading investments, as stated in
the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position best represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties.

In order to minimise the credit risk,
the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debft
periodically to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. Each major
operating business has a policy of
credit control in place under which
credit evaluations of customers are
performed on all customers requiring
credit.

The Directors also have monitoring
procedures to ensure the follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of its financial
assets including frade and ofther
receivables at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. R T E(48)

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (b) IBEMEEEERBEK(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because the counterparties are banks
with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has concentration
of credit risk as 82% of the total
frade receivables was due from
two customers from retailing and
wholesales segment with credit
terms of 14 days (2017: 51% due
from one customer from publishing
and intellectual properties licensing
segment). 86% of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s
top three customers within the retailing
and wholesales and publishing and
intellectual properties licensing
segments with credit terms of 14 to
90 days (2017. 79% within the retailing
and wholesales and publishing and
intellectual properties licensing
segments). These customers have
good credit and repayment history
and settled the amount within credit
period. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the Directors continuously monitors
the level of exposure to ensure that
follow-up actions and/or corrective
actions are taken promptly to lower
the risk exposure or to recover overdue
balances.

=B (E)

HRESABRBRTIARERTSEE
FARZBIT HABESZFERAR
AR -

FAEEBGFEETEERR  LIIHAR
FEWE S RABEZ2%ENBAE
AR EEHRZZERMBEI B ZWMA
EF(ZE—tF 51%EWE HIR
RABERREIBZ—BEF) - &
WESIRFBIE 8% NEREER
HBEUREHBRERABERRES BE
BI14ARZENHEEH(ZE—+t&F:
79% FEUR B T & K #HE 8 DA K AR & Al
BREEREID) 2AEB=8RBAE
F-MhERFREERFEERENG
% BEREEHREERE - BTH
FERRRBERK ESHEELRER
BEkE > BARRKELHRER HME
I8 B LR L B =k Lk 20 8 R A Bk o
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents by
the Directors to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The Directors regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements
to ensure it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and bank balances
and adequate funding from its
shareholders to meet with its liquidity
requirements.

The following table details the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for
its financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment term. The table
has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes principal cash
flows.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. ER T E ()
(Continued) -
(b) Financial risk management (b) FEEMREEBZERBUR (&)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TEEZ/E R (E)
Liquidity table FREELE
Repayable on
Weighted demand and Total
average within  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year cash flows amount
RERRR AERRE
TR = —-FREE RELHE BEE
% HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$°000
TER TET TET
2018 —E-N\F
Trade and other BNEZRRR
payables Hitr B 5RE — 3,414 3,414 3,414
2017 ZE—tF

Trade and other ERESRIR
payables Hin 58 — 3,001 3,001 3,001
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of
financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial
asselts that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis

The level in the fair value hierarchy
within which the financial asset
is categorised in ifs entirety is
based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value

32. &M T AE(E)
(c) EMIT A AF¥EEE

BEEMEELL FEETEZLE
Ee@MEEZ L FEE

TRMEEERTERAZATVEERE
RR2ER DERHAFEETE
ERERERZBREERBARE -

measurement.
Valuation Significant Relationship of
Fair value technique(s) unobservable  unobservable
Financial asset Fair value hierarchy and key input(s) inputs inputs to fair value
EXTABE FTBRERARER
SHEE AYERE N YEEER HERERERBAYE BANE AYEEZBE
2018 2017
ZE-N\F TE-tF
Listed equity securities Assets — Assets —  Level 1 Quoted bid pricesin - N/A N/A
clossified as held for HK$7,080,000 HK$6,640,000 an active market
trading investment
in the consolidated
statement of financial
position
LHRERS  RERHHR BE - BE- Z4 EETEMRZEAE  TER TER

REMEABAKEEE 70800008  6,640000%%

R
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32.€MTAE(E)

(Continued) -

(c) Fair value measurements (c) EMITEZAFEEE(E)
of financial instruments
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial WHEEEMEEL L FEETEZ
assefs that are not measured at fair KEFLHEEZ L FIEHE
value on a recurring basis
The fair values of other financial assets WHERREMEEUQNFLEEFEZ
and financial liabilities that are not BEMmeRmEERSRmEBZATER
measured at fair value on a recurring EREARTERIZBRURRER
basis are determined in accordance ETWMERE °

with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash
flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the EERANGEUBERRANRBER
carrying amounts of financial assets AAEZeRHEEREREGEZRE
and financial liabilities recorded at BEEEAFEEES

amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their
fair value.
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ReMBGHR=RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-_Z-N\E=ZA=+—HLEE
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key
management personnel

The remuneration of directors, chief

. EHEALRS
FEEE A S > 5

FRES THARARTEREEAS 2HM

executive and other members of key REZHMMT :
management during the year was as
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Short-term benefits EHER 3,598 6,890
Retirement benefit scheme RAER GBI
contributions 71 95
3,669 6,985

The Group did not have any significant
tfransactions and balances with related
parties during the year ended 31 March
2018 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE M. KABZEENE R T
COMPANY !

Particulars of the Company’s principal ARNFAR=ZZE-—NEFE=Z=RA=+—HEZEWE
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2018 are as DB ZFMERMOT ¢
follows:

Place/country Issued and Proportion of nominal

of incorporation  fully paid share value of issued share
or registration/ capital/registered capital indirectly held by

Name operation capital the Company Principal activities
afAIgER,  CERARMRRE/  ARDEBEREC
tR EELY/EX ifEs BRIRAEERA  IBRE
2018 2017
ZE-N\E ZE-tE
% %
Citicomics Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 10 70 Publishing and licensing
BEULARAA B FER2ER HRRERE
Culturecom Centre Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100  Provision of management services fo group
W EEHHERAT ¥ LAR AT companies
RUEERETRELE
Culturecom Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100  Provision of management services fo group
WEELEERAT BB LAR2AT companies
RUEERETRELE
Culturecom Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 95 100 Investment holding and publishing and
W ERERAR BB LER 100087 intellectual properties licensing
REBRUR MR ARERRE
Culturecom Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Investment holding and securifies frading
UEERERRAT ) FER2ER REERRESEE
Culturecom Media Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Provision for multimedia service
YRHREERAE ) FER2ER RUSRERY
Culturekid i-shop (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Trading of wine
YEAERERE(ER)ERAT B FER2ER EERR
Success Dynasty Limited British Virgin Islond ~ Ordinary US$1 - 100 Investment holding
("BVI") LRR1ET (Note i) REER
ABELRS (M)
(ZBELHE))
Winway HK. Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Investment holding and securifies frading

KABERRERRAT B FER2ER REEREESER
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R e MR RN

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

4. KX RFE 2 EEMB AT (E)

Place/country Issued and Proportion of nominal
of incorporation  fully paid share value of issued share
or registration/ capital/registered capital indirectly held by
Name operation capital the Company Principal activities
AfRLAER,  CRORERRE/  BALIEEEEZ
tR EERY/HR g BRORAEERA  TEXR
2018 2017
-\ CE-tE
% %
Ucan.com Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 Investment holding and development of
) HK$10,000 online social music gaming platform
EER10,000#% REERRERE LHRELERTA
FEeRERREERLA Macau Ordinary 100 100 Catering
5 MOP25,000 88
LR 25,000 807
ENR-BEFRAMEERLA PRC Registered 55 75 Operation of digital cinema
] RMB5,010,000 feqmEEh
AMERARY
5,010,000
THE ONE Comics Publishing Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary 5] 51 Publishing and intellectual properties
-BEHRERLA B HK$1,618,900 licensing
EER 1,618,900 ERRAREERE
B
Ucan Commercial Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 100 Trading of mobile phone and app
E# LER100% T development of mobile phone
EETRRARTREARR
Dong Vi Culture Notion Pictures Macau Ordinary 100 100 Production and distribution of film, TV series
(Mocau) Limited MOP5,000,000 and music
R-XE#(AM)ERAA 1§ &8/ 5,000,000 HEREAEY  SRAREY
i lsb
Notes: Mz :

0] On 18 September 2017, 100% of the equity
interest of Success Dynasty was disposed to an
independent third party as detailed in Note 28.
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(i MRZZE—tFAB+NH  Success Dynasty Z
100%EEHEF—BBULFE=F FBFHRKH
28 ¢



34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that
a complete list of the particulars of all
subsidiaries would be of excessive length
and therefore the above list contains only
the subsidiaries which principally affect the
results or assets or liabilities of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt
securities outstanding during the year or at
the end of the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the
Company has other subsidiaries that are
not material to the Group. A majority of
these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong
and BVI. The principal activities of these
subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Principal activities

Principal place of business
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

4. KRB EEMB AT (E)

EERALRESRINTEZELAEEB ¥
AREERNREZMEAT - S5 2HHE
RAZFHER S ERBEBR TR

FrEMBARBERFANFRERITEZ
EMEBES -

RBEMR  ARBDEAFHEAEENSE
ERZHMMBLR - WEMBARNKZH
REBRREBELHSEE - LEHEL A
ZEBXEBBMMT

Number of subsidiaries

FEXEK FTEEEME MEARHE
2018 2017
—E-N\F C—B—+%F
Investment holding BVI, Hong Kong 17 11
REEZR RERLES BB
Dormant/Inactive companies BVI, Hong Kong, PRC, Macau 7 8

gEEx

HKBELHE - B8 PE - RN
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FRaMBERRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

35. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

On 28 March 2018, Culturecom (Hong
Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group, has entered info a capital
increase agreement (the “Agreement”)
with a ftarget company (the “Target
Company”) and its existing equity holders
to increase the registered capital and
capital reserves of the Target Company.
The Target Company is principally engaged
in the digitalisation and commercialisation
of intellectual properties, content creation
and digital marketing.

Pursuant tfo the Agreement, Culturecom
(Hong Kong) Limited has agreed to inject
a total of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$50,000,000) in cash in
the Target Company.

Capital injection shall be completed within
seven business days immediately following
the fulfillment of certain conditions
set out in the Agreement. Details of
these conditions were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 28
March 2018.

Upon completion, the equity interests in
the Target Company will be owned 55% by
Culturecom (Hong Kong) Limited and 45%
by the existing equity holders. As such, the
Target Company will become a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group. Up to the
date of this report, the transaction is not
completed.
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35. REHRER

RZZB-N\F=ZA=+N\B  A&Ez2E
MEBARXERE(EB)ARATNEEEL
A(BREQA ) RERBRERSB AR LY
Bk ([ &iH& D) - BUBMBJR AR ZEM
BARBAGHE -  BEREQRAEBERSBNRE
BB REEL  ARAEREIE TS
HE -

REZBER XLEFEERB)ERAF
EEEMERARAIARSBEARYE
40,000,000 T (1 % R #50,000,0008
JT) °

EEARBEZMBMEE THRFERRL
EEXEARTK - ZEREFBEHRALF
HBA-ZFE-—N\F=A=-+N\B2AH -

EH% BEADZRERHILEEE
)8R0 R 55% R IR A RAER A A
W 45% - it BEATBRALERS
¥2EMBAT - AEAREEH > BEX
SHREA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERRMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BHEZZE-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

36. INFORMATION ABOUT 36. BEREAAR R BB BEARR 2 EF
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE :
COMPANY
Information about the statement of EBEARATRBEHRR2HBRARZ2ER
financial position of the Company at the B

end of the reporting period includes:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$"000
FHExT FHBT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Unlisted investment in a subsidiary R—ENBARIZE LTRE — 9,744
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR T B A R FRIE 102,965 212,834
102,965 222,578
Current asset REEE
Bank balances RITHEER 208,186 141,512
Current liability REEE
Other payables and accrued HihENRERETEA
charges 469 782
Net current assets REEEFE 207,717 140,730
310,682 363,308
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital (Note 25) B 7 (B =£ 25) 13,907 13,907
Share premium and reserves (Note) R EE R (Kizt) 296,775 349,401

310,682 363,308
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ReMBGHR=RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
BE-Z—-N\F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

36. INFORMATION ABOUT
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

36. HAARRAMBRR 2 EHR ()

Note: MisE -
Movement in the Company’s share premium and ARATRRDBERFEEERE
reserves
Capital Share
Share  Contribution Warrant redemption options  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
R EE EHEY AREIRE RIERRK BRERR ZiEE -
HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEn
At 1 April 2016 RZE-AEMA-H 1,837,898 262,143 25,823 446 75,358 (1,967,954) 233,714
Loss for the year FEFR - - - - - (37,480) (37,480)
Lapsed of share options BREXN
(Note 26) (HzE26) - — - - (15,165) 15,165 -
Lapsed of warrants (Note 26)  sRRRHER &3 (F3E 26) - - (43) - - 43 -
Exercise of share options TERRE
(Note 27) (HzE27) 52,135 - - - (12,999) - 39,136
Exercise of warrants TEARER
(Note 26) (K& 26) 135,578 — (21,547) — — — 114,031
At 31 March 2017 RZIE-t#&
ZA=t-H 2,025,611 262,143 4,233 446 47,194 (1,990,226) 349,401
Loss for the year FEFR - - - - - (52,626) (52.626)
Lapsed of share options BIREXN
(Note 27) (H&E27) - - - - (47,194) 47,194 -
Lapsed of warrants (Note 26)  RIRREE K3 (M 26) - - (4,233) - - 4,233 -
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E
ZA=t-H 2,025,611 262,143 - 446 - (1,991,425) 296,775
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The consolidated results and assefs and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial

statements are as follows:

8L =&

FEERBEAAMRFEZGEXREREER
BEDNREZEEELBEHRE - HIAOT

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=t—-HLEE

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—E-NE ZZE-HF ZE-RE ZZ—+tF ZE-N\E
HKS'000 HKS$"000 HKS$"000 HKS'000 HK$°000
FET FEx FERT FERT TEx
RESULTS #E
Continuing operations:  FEEE £ -

Revenue 'ON 31,216 24,891 27,792 24,026 34,910
Loss before tax BB AER (178,606)  (117,119)  (61,203)  (49.835)  (57,778)
Income tax credit FEBiEe (XiH)

(expense) 10 (3,130) (294) (1,202) (18)
Loss after income tax from BB ELEHK >

continuing operations  BFFERIARE  (178596)  (120,249)  (61,497)  (51,037)  (57,796)
Discontinued operation: B&RILEEE

Profit for the year FERF 21,276 — — — -
Loss for the year FEFB (157,320)  (120,249) (61,497  (51,037)  (57,796)
Attributable to: FEh

Owners of the Company EAAREEA (147,229) (115,684) (58,078) (48,753) (58,042)

Non-controlling interests  FEiEpg RS (10,091) (4,565) (3,419) (2,284) 246

(157,320) (120,249) (61,497) (51,037) (57,796)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEE=E

As at 31 March

R=B=+—-H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—E-NME ZEBE-HE ZEBE-XE ZZT—+tE Z—ZB-N\E
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TET TERT THET TET TER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
Property, plant and M BERRE
equipment 15,854 14,785 8,946 2,029 805
Film production in BEFES
progress — — — 31,600 1,620
Long term deposits and ~ KERE REMHE
prepayments — — 1,645 3,796 555
Loans to an associate M —EEE AR RME
ZER 4,450 — — — —
Interest in associates NN E 40,185 38,180 33,828 — 1,143
Goodwill [EkS 2,796 — — — —
Intangible assets BREE 2,905 1,385 1,385 1,385 1,385
Available-for-sale AHEEERERE
financial assets — 2 — — -
Deferred tax asset EEMIEEE 2,318 — — — —
Net current assets REEEFE 289,185 213,822 200,836 325,210 305,872
357,693 268,174 246,640 364,020 311,380
Non-current liabilities E5 = — (942) (784) (712) (698)
357,693 267,232 245,856 363,308 310,682
Share capital [N 11,716 11,738 12,142 13,907 13,907
Share premium and B REREE
reserves 359,163 273,246 254,278 354,816 302,234
Equity attributable AATEE AERL
to owners of the g
Company 370,879 284,984 266,420 368,723 316,141
Non-controlling interests  JE#ER i (13,186) (17.752) (20,564) (5,415) (5,459)
357,693 267,232 245,856 363,308 310,682
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